

# UNIVERSITY OF NOVI SAD FACULTY OF SCIENCE INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS

On Integral Transforms and Convolution Equations on the Spaces of Tempered Ultradistributions

> Ph D thesis 1992

ADVISOR:

Prof dr Stevan Pilipović

CANDIDATE:

mr Dušanka Kovačević



I wish to express my gratitude to my advisor prof. Stevan Pilipović, who supervise my study and scientific work. Prof. Pilipović thoroughly reviewed the manuscript of the thesis, making numerous criticism and suggestions. Advices of academician prof. Bogoljub Stanković were a valuable aid during the final revisions. Seminars which I attended during summer semester 1989/90 at the Institute of Mathematics and Geometry of University of Innsbruck, as well as interesting conversations with prof. Norbert Ortner and prof. Michael Oberguggenberger, encouraged me to start to study the theory of ultradistributions. A result of this work is this doctoral thesis.

May 30, 1992

Dušanka Kovačević

# Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Spaces $S^*$ and $S'^*$	11
	2.1 Topological properties	11
	2.2 Structural Properties	26
	2.3 Boundary value representation	29
3	Elementary Operations	35
	3.1 The spaces of multipliers	38
4	Integral transforms	42
	4.1 Fourier Transform and Integral Characterizations	43
	4.2 Laplace transform	44
	4.3 Hilbert transform	45
5	Convolution of Ultradistributions	53
	5.1 On the Definition of Convolution	55
	5.2 Ultratempered Convolution	63
3	Hypoellipticity in $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime \star}$	66
3i	bliography	74

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

In the thesis we introduce and investigate the spaces which are natural generalizations of the space S', of Schwartz's tempered distributions [56], in Denjoy-Carleman-Komatsu's theory of ultradistributions. Our aim was to obtain spaces which are "lager" then S' and preserve all its good properties. Among others, a remarkable one, that the Fourier transform does not take us outside of that space, which allows us to employ in the theory of ultradistributions the most effective way of solving problems in mathematical physics, the Fourier transform method.

What does "a ultradistribution theory" means? We accepted the concept of Ciorănescu and Zsido ([14]). Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a family of parameters. Assume that every  $\sigma \in \mathcal{G}$  is associated with a locally convex topological vector space  $\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$  of infinitely differentiable functions  $\varphi : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{C}$ , with a compact support such that,

- 1.  $\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$  is inductive limit of a sequence of Frécet spaces;
- 2. The topology of  $\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$  is stronger than the topology of pointwise convergence;
- 3.  $\mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$  is algebra under pointwise multiplication;
- 4. For every compact set  $K \subset \mathbf{R}$  and open set  $D \subset K$ , there exists  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$ , such that  $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$ ,  $\varphi(s) = 1$ , for  $s \in K$ , and  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset D$ .

5. The vector space  $\mathcal{E}_{\sigma}$ , of all functions  $\psi: \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{C}$ , such that  $\varphi \psi \in \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$ , for each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$ , which is equipped with the projective limit topology defined by the linear mappings,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\sigma} \to \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}, \qquad \psi \mapsto \varphi \psi, \quad \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{\sigma},$$

has as a dense subspace, the linear space  ${\cal A}$  of all complex functions on R, which can be extended analytically on some complex neighborhood of R.

If the above assumptions hold we say that  $(\mathcal{D}_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{G}}$  is a theory of ultradistributions.

Theories of ultradistributions can be compared. The ultradistribution theory  $(\mathcal{D}_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}}$  is larger than  $(\mathcal{D}_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{G}}$  if and only if for every  $\sigma \in \mathcal{G}$  there exists  $\tau \in \mathcal{T}$  such that one of the equivalent inclusions  $\mathcal{D}_{\tau} \subset \mathcal{D}_{\sigma}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{\tau} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\sigma}$  hold, which imply that the inclusions are continuous and have dense ranges. So in that case  $\mathcal{D}'_{\sigma} \subset \mathcal{D}'_{\tau}$  and  $\mathcal{E}'_{\sigma} \subset \mathcal{E}'_{\tau}$ , where the inclusions are continuous and have dense ranges. If  $(\mathcal{D}_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}}$  is larger than  $(\mathcal{D}_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{G}}$  and conversely, then we say that  $(\mathcal{D}_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathcal{T}}$  and  $(\mathcal{D}_{\sigma})_{\sigma \in \mathcal{G}}$  are equivalent ultradistribution theories. Several theories of ultradistributions are developed.

Denjoy-Carleman-Komatsu's theory (see [53], [41], [12], [33], [34], [35],

[36]): Let  $\mathcal{M}$  denotes the set of all positive sequences  $(M_p)_{p\in\mathbb{N}}$  which satisfy:

(M.1) 
$$M_p^2 \le M_{p-1} M_{p+1}, p \in \mathbb{N},$$
  
 $(M.3)'$   $\sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \frac{M_{p-1}}{M_p} < \infty.$ 

$$(M.3)' \qquad \qquad \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \frac{M_{p-1}}{M_p} < \infty.$$

For each  $(M_p)_{p\in\mathbb{N}}$  from  $\mathcal{M}$ ,

$$\mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}} = \{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}), \text{ there exists } h > 0 \text{ such that } \sup_{\substack{p \in \mathbf{N}_0 \\ x \in \mathbf{R}}} \frac{\mid \phi^{(\alpha)}(x) \mid}{h^{\alpha} M_{\alpha}} < \infty \},$$

$$\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} = \{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}), \text{ for each } h > 0 \text{ such that } \sup_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0 \\ \mathbf{r} \in \mathbf{R}}} \frac{\mid \phi^{(\alpha)}(x) \mid}{h^\alpha M_\alpha} < \infty \}.$$

Beurling-Björck's theory (see [3], [6]) Let  $\mathcal{A}$  denotes the set of all functions  $\omega : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  which have the following properties:

$$\omega(0) = 0;$$
  $\omega(t+s) \le \omega(t) + \omega(s), \quad \forall t, s > 0;$ 

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\omega(t)}{1+t^2} dt < \infty; \quad \log t = O(\omega(t))$$

For  $\omega \in \mathcal{A}$ ,

$$\mathcal{D}_{\omega} = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}), \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(t)| e^{\lambda \omega(t)} dt < \infty \text{ for all } \lambda > 0 \right\}.$$

Cioranescu-Zsidó's theory (see [14]) Let  $(t_n)$  be a sequence of positive numbers such that  $\sum_n 1/t_n < \infty$ . The function

$$\omega_{\{t_n\}}(\zeta) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{i\zeta}{t_n}), \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C},$$

is an entire function of exponential type zero.  $\Omega$  denotes the set of all these functions. For  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,

$$\mathcal{D}_{\omega} = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}), \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(t)\omega(Lt)^n| dt < \infty \text{ for all } L > 0 \text{ and } n \in \mathbf{N} \right\}.$$

Braun-Meise-Taylor's theory (see [4]) This an modification of Beurling's approach. A function  $\omega:[0,\infty)\to[0,\infty)$  belongs to the set of weighted functions  $\mathcal W$  if it is continuous and satisfies:

- ( $\alpha$ ) there exists  $C \ge 1$  such that  $\omega(2t) \le (1 + \omega(t)), t \ge 0$ ;
- $(\beta) \qquad \int_1^\infty \frac{\omega(t)}{1+t^2} dt < \infty;$
- $(\gamma)$   $\log(1+t) = o(\omega(t)), t \to \infty;$
- $(\delta)$   $t \mapsto \omega(e^t)$  is a convex function.

For  $\omega \in \mathcal{W}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{D}_{(\omega)} &= \left\{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}), \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(t)| e^{\lambda \omega(t)} dt < \infty \text{ for all } \lambda > 0 \right\}, \\ \mathcal{D}_{\{\omega\}} &= \left\{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}), \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\hat{f}(t)| e^{\lambda \omega(t)} dt < \infty \text{ for some } \lambda > 0 \right\}. \end{split}$$

The theories  $\{\mathcal{D}_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ ,  $\{\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}\}_{(M_p)\in\mathcal{M}}$ ,  $\{\mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}\}_{(M_p)\in\mathcal{M}}$ ,  $\{\mathcal{D}_{(\omega)}\}_{\omega\in\mathcal{W}}$  and  $\{\mathcal{D}_{\{\omega\}}\}_{\omega\in\mathcal{W}}$  are equivalent and strictly larger than  $\{\mathcal{D}_{\omega}\}_{\omega\in\mathcal{A}}$  (see [14] and [4]).

Following Denjoy-Carleman-Komatsu's approach to the theory of ultradistributions we introduce the spaces  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$  of tempered ultradistributions, which are subspaces of the ultradistribution spaces  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{D}'^{\{M_P\}}$  of Beurling and Roumieu type, study the elementary operations and the various integral transforms on them, the convolution and the ultratempered convolution of ultradistributions and determine a necessary and sufficient conditions for a convolutor of a space of tempered ultradistributions to be hypoelliptic in a space of integrable ultradistributions. In the special case when  $(M_p)$  is a Gevrey's sequence  $(p^{\alpha p})_{p \in \mathbb{N}}$ ,  $\alpha > 1$ , the space  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  is the space  $\Sigma'_{\alpha}$ , which was investigated by Pilipović ([45]), and the test space  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  of the space  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$  is Gelfand-Shilov space  $\mathcal{S}^{\alpha}_{\alpha}([20][18][7],[32],[17])$ . We generalized results known in the case when  $(M_p)$  is a Gevrey's sequence for a wider class of sequences. The proofs which are trivial generalizations of the proofs of known results are omitted. The proof of the theorem which determines explicitly the space of multipliers of the space  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  is simpler then the proof of analogous assertion for  $\Sigma'_{\alpha}$ . Moreover, results which were not known even in the case of Gevrey's sequences were given. We determined explicitly the space of multipliers, characterized the test spaces by the Fourier transformation, Wigner distribution and Bargmann transformation, gave the boundary value representation of the space  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ , investigated the Fourier and Laplace transformations on  $\mathcal{S}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$  and the Hermit expansion of its elements, the Hilbert transformation on  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ , proved the equivalence of definitions of convolution and of ultratempered convolution of ultradistributions of Beurling type and determined a necessary and sufficient conditions for a convolutor to be hypoelliptic in a space of integrable ultradistributions. The definitions and obtained results are given in one dimensional case (with exception of the fifth chapter) but they can be easily generalized for more dimensional case.

In the second chapter we define spaces of ultrarapidly decreasing ultradifferentiable functions and their duals, spaces of tempered ultradistributions of Beurling and Roumieu type. We investigate their topological properties, relations with the known distribution and ultradistribution spaces, structural properties and Hermite expansion and the boundary value representation

of their elements. Elementary operations (translation, differentiation, ultradifferentiation and multiplication) on  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  are investigated in third chapter. The space  $\mathcal{O}_M^{(M_p)}$  of multipliers of the spaces  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  is determined explicitly. The fourth chapter, which results are obtained in cooperation with prof. Pilipović, is devoted to the investigations of various integral transforms on the spaces  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ . We use results about Hermite expansion to obtain results for the Fourier and Laplace transform, characterize  $\mathcal{S}^*$ by the Fourier transform, Wigner distribution and Bargmann transform. In the last section of the chapter we study the Hilbert transform on  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ , which is a generalization of the corresponding one on the space of tempered distributions, defined by Ishikawa ([26]). In the fifth chapter, which results are obtained in cooperation with prof. Pilipović and prof. Kamiński, we investigate in details the equivalence of several definitions of the convolution of Beurling type ultradistributions. Also, we introduce several definitions of ultratempered convolutions of Beurling type ultradistributions and prove their equivalence. In the last chapter we study hypoelliptic convolution equations in the Beurling and Roumieu ultradistribution spaces  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime\star},\ q\in[1,\infty].$ 

We remark that Björk ([6]) and Gruzdinski ([22]) studied the spaces  $S'_{\omega}$  of " $\omega$ -tempered distributions", which are generalizations of the space of Schwartz's tempered distributions, Beurling-Björk's theory of ultradistributions, and did not studied the problems which we consider. Relations between the spaces  $S'_{\omega}$  and  $S'^{(M_p)}$  and  $S'^{\{M_p\}}$  are discussed in the second chapter.

Jenssen and van Eijndhoven ([27]) studied Gelfand-Shilov type spaces  $W_M^{M^\times}$  ([21]), where  $M^\times$  is the Young conjugate of a suitable function M. In their approach M tends to infinity faster than x and slower than  $x^2$ . In the special case:  $M(x) = \alpha x^{1/\alpha}$ , x > 0,  $1/2 \le \alpha < 1$ ,  $W_M^{M^\times}$  is the space  $\mathcal{S}_{\alpha}^{\alpha}$ .  $W_M^{M^\times}$  is characterized in [27] by the Hermite expansion, Fourier transform, Wigner distribution and Bargmann transform. We obtained analogous characterizations of the spaces  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ , but in our approach the role of M has the function associated to the sequence  $(M_p)$ , which is increasing and tends to infinity slower than x. For example if  $M_p = p!^{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha > 1$ , then  $M(x) \sim \mathcal{C}x^{1/\alpha}$  and the Young's conjugate for such a function does not exist

at all. It is easy to see that the natures of the spaces  $W_M^{M^{\times}}$ ,  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  are different, because of that our methods are quite different.

#### Notation and Notions

The sets of nonnegative integers, natural, real, complex and complex numbers with positive imaginary part are denoted by  $N_0$ , N, R, C and  $C_+$ . Throughout the thesis the letter  $\mathcal{C}$  (without super- or subscript) will denote a positive constant, not necessarily the same at each occurrence;

$$\langle x \rangle^{\beta} = (1 + |x|^2)^{\beta/2}, \quad \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ x \in \mathbb{R},$$

$$D = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad i = \sqrt{-1},$$

The sequence of Hermite functions  $h_n$  is

$$h_n(x) = \frac{(-1)^n}{\sqrt[4]{\pi}\sqrt{2^n n!}} e^{x^2/2} (e^{-x^2})^{(n)}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

and the sequence of the Hermite functions of the second kind  $\tilde{h}_n$  ([64]) is

$$\tilde{h}_n(\zeta) = \begin{cases} \sum_{m \geq n} h_n(\zeta) h_m^{-1}(\zeta) h_{m+1}^{-1}(\zeta) ((m+1)/2)^{-1/2}, & \zeta \in \mathbb{C}, & \text{Im} \zeta \neq 0, \\ \\ \frac{1}{2} (\tilde{h}_n(\xi + i0) + \tilde{h}_n(\xi - i0)), & \zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbb{C}, & \text{Im} \zeta = 0, \end{cases}$$

see [64]. The norm in the space  $L^r = L^r(\mathbf{R})$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty]$ , is denoted by  $\|\cdot\|_r$ . The Fourier transform, Wigner distribution and Bargmann transform are defined respectively by

$$(\mathcal{F}\varphi)(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-ix\xi} \varphi(x) dx, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}, \ \varphi \in L^1,$$

$$\mathbf{W}(x,y;f) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \exp(-iyt) f(x+t/2) \overline{f(y-t/2)} dt, \quad f \in L^2, \ x,y \in \mathbf{R},$$

$$(\mathbf{A}f)(\zeta) = \pi^{-1/4} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \exp(-1/2(\zeta^2 + x^2) + \sqrt{2}\zeta x) f(x) \, dx, \quad f \in L^2, \ \zeta \in \mathbf{C},$$
(see [7], [28] and [29]).

A locally convex topological vector space is  $(F\bar{S})$ -space (resp. (LS)-space) if it is a projective limit of countable, compact specter of spaces. If the mentioned specter is also nuclear the space is (FN)-space (resp. (LN)-space), see [19].

- $(M_p)$  is a sequence of positive numbers which satisfies some of the following conditions, see [33]:
- (M.1) (logarithmic convexity)

$$M_p^2 \le M_{p-1} M_{p+1}, p \in \mathbb{N};$$

(M.2)' (stability under differential operators)

$$M_{p+1} \le AH^pM_p, \ p \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ \text{for some } A, H \ge 0;$$

(M.2) (stability under ultradifferential operators)

$$M_p \le AH^p \min_{0 \le q \le p} M_{p-q} M_q, \ p, q \in \mathbb{N}_0, \ \text{for some } A, H \ge 0;$$

(M.3)' (non-quasi-analyticity)

$$\sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \frac{M_{p-1}}{M_p} < \infty;$$

(M.3) (strong non-quasi-analyticity)

$$\sum_{p=q+1}^{\infty} \frac{M_{p-1}}{M_p} \le Aq \frac{M_q}{M_{q+1}}, \quad q \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Throughout the thesis we will assume (M.1), (M.3)' and  $M_0 = 1$ . In some assertions we will suppose (M.2)', (M.2) and (M.3), as well. The letter H will always denote the constant mentioned in (M.2)' or (M.2).

The so-called associated functions for the sequence  $(M_p)$  are defined by

$$M(\rho) = \sup_{p \in \mathbb{N}_0} \log \frac{\rho^p}{M_p}, \qquad \tilde{M}(\rho) = \sup_{p \in \mathbb{N}_0} \log \frac{\rho^p p!}{M_p}, \qquad \rho > 0.$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{R}$  a family of positive sequences which increases to infinity. This set is partially ordered and directed by the relation  $(r_p) \leq (s_p)$  defined by  $r_p \leq s_p$ ,  $p > p_0$ , for some  $p_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ . The associated functions for the sequence  $N_p = M_p(\prod_{k=1}^p a_k)$ ,  $(a_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ , are denoted by  $N_{a_p}$  and  $\tilde{N}_{a_p}$ .

Let us recall the definitions of Beurling and Roumieau spaces of ultradifferentiable functions ([33]). If K is a regular compact subset of R and h>0, the space  $\mathcal{E}_{K,h}^{M_p}$  is the space of functions  $\phi$  from  $C^{\infty}$  such that

$$\|\phi\|_{K,h} = \sup_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ x \in K}} \frac{|\phi^{(\alpha)}(x)|}{h^{\alpha} M_{\alpha}} < \infty, \tag{1.1}$$

and  $\mathcal{D}_{K,h}^{M_p}$  is the space of all  $\varphi$  from  $C^{\infty}$  with support in K which satisfy (1.1). The basic spaces of functions of class  $\{M_p\}$  and of class  $\{M_p\}$  are defined by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{K}^{(M_p)} &= \operatorname{proj} \lim_{h \to 0} \mathcal{E}_{K,h}^{M_p}, \qquad \mathcal{E}_{K}^{\{M_p\}} &= \operatorname{ind} \lim_{h \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_{K,h}^{M_p}, \\ \mathcal{E}^{(M_p)} &= \operatorname{proj} \lim_{K \subset \subset \mathbf{R}} \mathcal{E}_{K}^{(M_p)}, \qquad \mathcal{E}^{\{M_p\}} &= \operatorname{proj} \lim_{K \subset \subset \mathbf{R}} \mathcal{D}_{K}^{\{M_p\}}. \\ \mathcal{D}_{K}^{(M_p)} &= \operatorname{proj} \lim_{h \to 0} \mathcal{D}_{K,h}^{M_p}, \qquad \mathcal{D}_{K}^{\{M_p\}} &= \operatorname{ind} \lim_{h \to \infty} \mathcal{D}_{K,h}^{M_p}, \\ \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} &= \operatorname{ind} \lim_{K \subset \subset \mathbf{R}} \mathcal{D}_{K}^{(M_p)}, \qquad \mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}} &= \operatorname{ind} \lim_{K \subset \subset \mathbf{R}} \mathcal{D}_{K}^{\{M_p\}}. \end{split}$$

The notation  $K \subset\subset \mathbf{R}$  means that K is compact and "grows" up to  $\mathbf{R}$ .

Let  $(a_p) \in \mathcal{R}$  and K be a compact set in R.  $\mathcal{D}_{K,a_p}^{M_p}$  is the space of smooth functions  $\varphi$  on R supported by K such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{K,a_p} = \sup_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ x \in K}} \frac{|\partial^{\alpha} \varphi(x)|}{N_{\alpha}} < \infty, \tag{1.2}$$

where  $N_p = M_p R_p$  and  $R_p = \prod_{i=1}^p a_i, p \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . It is shown in [36] that

$$\mathcal{D}_{K}^{\{M_{\alpha}\}} = \operatorname{projlim}_{(r_{p}) \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}_{K, r_{p}}^{M_{p}}.$$

The common notation for the symbols  $(M_p)$  and  $\{M_p\}$  will be \*.

The strong duals of  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}$ , denoted by  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{D}'^{\{M_p\}}$ , are called Beurling and Roumieu spaces of ultradistributions. It is said that a locally convex space F is a space of ultradistributions if and only if F is algebraic subspace of  $\mathcal{D}'^*$ , the inclusion mapping  $F \to \mathcal{D}'^*$  is continuous and  $\mathcal{D}^*$  is dense in the space F.

If  $s \in [1, \infty]$ , as in [48] we define

$$\mathcal{D}_{L^s}^{(M_p)} = \operatorname{proj} \lim_{h \to 0} \mathcal{D}_{L^s,h}^{M_p} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{L^s}^{\{M_p\}} = \operatorname{ind} \lim_{h \to \infty} \mathcal{D}_{L^s,h}^{M_p},$$

where  $\mathcal{D}^{M_p}_{L^{\mathfrak{s}},h}$  is the space of functions  $\phi$  from  $C^{\infty}$  for which,

$$\|\phi\|_{L^{s},h} = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|\partial^{\alpha}\phi\|_{s}}{h^{\alpha}M_{\alpha}} < \infty, \tag{1.3}$$

equipped with the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{L^s,h}$ . The corresponding strong duals of  $\mathcal{D}_{L^s}^*$ ,  $\mathcal{D}'_{L^t}^*$ , t=s/(s-1), are subspaces of Beurling and Roumieau spaces of ultradistribution. We denote by  $\dot{\mathcal{B}}^*$  the completion of  $\mathcal{D}^*$  in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ . The strong dual of  $\dot{\mathcal{B}}^*$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{D}'_{L^1}^*$ . Let

$$\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{L^r}^{\{M_p\}} = \operatorname{projlim}_{\ell_p \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}_{L^r,\ell_p}^{M_p},$$

where  $\mathcal{D}_{L^r,\ell_p}^{M_p}$ ,  $\ell_p \in \mathcal{R}$ , is the space of functions  $\phi$  from  $C^{\infty}$ , for which

$$\|\phi\|_{L^{r},\ell_{p}} = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|\partial^{\alpha}\phi\|_{r}}{\left(\prod_{1 \leq \beta \leq \alpha} h_{\beta}\right) M_{\alpha}} < \infty, \tag{1.4}$$

and let us denote the completion of  $\mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}$  in  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\{M_p\}}$  by  $\dot{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}^{\{M_p\}}$ . The strong dual of  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{L^r}^{\{M_p\}}$  are denoted by  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}'_{L^q}^{\{M_p\}}$ , q=r/(r-1), and the strong dual of  $\dot{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}^{\{M_p\}}$  is denoted by  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}'_{L^1}^{\{M_p\}}$ . From [50, Lemma 3.(i),(ii)] it follows that in the set theoretical sense  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{L^r}^{\{M_p\}} = \mathcal{D}_{L^r}^{\{M_p\}}$ ,  $r \in (1,\infty)$ , and  $\dot{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}^{\{M_p\}} = \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{\{M_p\}}$ , and that the inclusion mappings  $i: \mathcal{D}_{L^r}^{\{M_p\}} \to \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{L^r}^{\{M_p\}}$  and  $i: \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{\{M_p\}} \to \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}^{\{M_p\}}$  are continuous. Hence,  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}'_{L^q}^*$  is a topological subspace of  $\mathcal{D}'_{L^q}^*$ .

Let a > 0,  $(a_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ 

$$P_a(\zeta) = (1+\zeta^2) \prod_{p \in \mathbb{N}} \left(1 + \frac{\zeta^2}{a^2 m_p^2}\right), \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C},$$

and

$$P_{a_p}(\zeta) = (1 + \zeta^2) \prod_{p \in \mathbb{N}} \left( 1 + \frac{\zeta^2}{a_p^2 m_p^2} \right), \ \zeta \in \mathbb{C},$$

If (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) hold, an ultradistribution T is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ),  $q \in [1,\infty]$ , if and only if there are b>0 (resp.  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ ) such that

$$f = P_b(D)F_1 + F_2$$
 (resp.  $f = P_{b_p}(D)F_1 + F_2$ ),  $D = \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ ,

where  $F_1, F_2 \in L^q$  ([50, Theorem 1]).

By  $\ell^2(b_k)$ , where  $b_k = (b_{1,k}, b_{2,k}, \ldots)$  is a sequence of real numbers, we denote a Köthe space of sequences  $x = (x_1, x_2, \ldots)$  of complex numbers with the norm,

$$|||x||| = \left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} |x_n|^2 (b_{n,k})^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

It is said that a formal series

$$P(\xi) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_{\alpha} \xi^{\alpha}, \xi \in \mathbb{R},$$

defines an ultrapolynomial of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ) whenever the coefficients  $a_\alpha$  satisfy the estimate

$$|a_{\alpha}| \leq CL^{\alpha}M_{\alpha}, \ \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

for some L>0 and  $\mathcal{C}$  (resp. for every L>0 and some  $\mathcal{C}$ ). The corresponding operator  $P(D)=\sum_{\alpha}a_{\alpha}D^{\alpha}$  is an ultradifferential operator of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ). Conditions (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) imply that  $P_a$  (resp.  $P_{a_p}$ ) is an ultradifferential operator of the class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ) ([33]). We say that function f is of ultrapolynomial growth of class \*, if and only if there is ultrapolynomial P of class \*, such that

$$|f(x)| \le P(|x|), x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Note, if (M.2)' is fulfilled function f is of ultrapolynomial growth of class  $(M_{\alpha})$  (resp.  $\{M_{\alpha}\}$ ) if and only if for some m > 0 and some  $\mathcal{C}$  (resp. for every m > 0 there exists  $\mathcal{C}$  such that),

$$|f(x)| \le C \exp M(m|x|), x \in \mathbf{R}.$$

## Chapter 2

## Spaces $S^*$ and $S'^*$

In the chapter we define spaces of ultrarapidly decreasing ultradifferentiable functions and their duals, spaces of tempered ultradistributions of Beurling and Roumieu type. We investigate their topological properties, relations with the known distribution and ultradistribution spaces, structural properties and Hermite expansion and the boundary value representation of their elements.

#### 2.1 Topological properties

Let m > 0 and  $r \in [1, \infty)$  be given.

Definition 2.1  $S_r^{M_p,m}$  and  $S_{\infty}^{M_p,m}$  are the spaces of all the smooth functions  $\varphi$  on  $\mathbf R$  which satisfy that

$$\sigma_{m,r}(\varphi) = \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x) \right|^{r} dx \right)^{1/r} < \infty$$

and

$$\sigma_{m,\infty}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty} < \infty,$$

respectively, equipped with the topologies induced by the norms  $\sigma_{m,r}$  and  $\sigma_{m,\infty}$ , respectively.

By  $S^{(M_p)}$  and  $S^{\{M_p\}}$  we denote the projective  $(m \to \infty)$  and the inductive  $(m \to 0)$  limits of the spaces  $S_2^{M_p,m}$  respectively.

The space  $S'^*$  is the strong dual of  $S^*$ .

Note,  $\mathcal{S}_{\tau}^{M_p,m}$  is a special case of the space  $\ell^{\tau}(m,F)$  (see [66]). Using the analogous idea as in [66] one can prove that the space  $\mathcal{S}_{\tau}^{M_p,m}$  is a Banach space, and especially, that  $\mathcal{S}_{2}^{M_p,m}$  is a Hilbert space where the scalar product of  $\phi,\psi\in\mathcal{S}_{2}^{M_p,m}$  is defined by

$$(\phi, \psi) = \sum_{\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \frac{m^{\alpha + \beta}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}} \right)^2 \langle x \rangle^{2\beta} \phi^{(\alpha)} (x) \overline{\psi^{(\alpha)}} (x) dx.$$

Under the assumptions (M.1) and (M.3)' the space  $\mathcal{S}^*$  is non-trivial, since the space  $\mathcal{D}^*$  is non-trivial ([33]) and  $\mathcal{D}^* \subset \mathcal{S}^*$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{D}^*$  is a proper subset of  $\mathcal{S}^*$ . If  $\rho \in \mathcal{D}^*$ ,  $\rho \geq 0$ ,  $supp\rho \subset [-1,1]$ ,  $\rho(x)=1$  for  $|x|\leq 1/2$ , and  $(x_j)$  is a sequence of elements of  $\mathbf{R}$  such that  $|x_j|+2\leq |x_{j+1}|$ ,  $j\in \mathbf{N}$ , the function

$$\phi(x) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\rho(x - x_j)}{\langle x_j \rangle^j}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$
 (2.1)

is an example of a function which belongs to  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and does not belong to  $\mathcal{D}^*$ . It will be proved that if (M.2)' holds,  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) can be represented as the projective (resp. inductive) limit of the spaces  $\mathcal{S}_r^{M_p,m}$ ,  $r \in [1,\infty]$ , when  $m \to \infty$  (resp.  $m \to 0$ ). In [50] Pilipović proved the next theorem.

Theorem 2.2 ([50]) If  $(a_p)$ ,  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ , and if  $\mathcal{S}_{a_p,b_p}^{M_p}$  is the space of smooth functions  $\phi$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  which satisfy,

$$\wp_{a_p,b_p}(\phi) = \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\|\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \phi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{M_{\alpha} \left(\prod_{\gamma=1}^{\alpha} a_{\gamma}\right) M_{\beta} \left(\prod_{\gamma=1}^{\beta} b_{\gamma}\right)} < \infty,$$

equipped with the topology induced by the norm  $\wp_{(a_p),(b_p)}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}} = \operatorname{proj\,lim}_{(a_p),(b_p)\in\mathcal{R}} \mathcal{S}^{M_p}_{a_p,b_p}.$$

A non-trivial example of an element of the space  $\mathcal{S}'^{\star}$  is

$$\langle f, \varphi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f \varphi dx, \ \varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*,$$

where f is a locally integrable function of ultrapolynomial growth of class \*. It will be shown that if (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) are fulfilled each element of  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  can be represented as an ultraderivative of the class \* of a continuous function of ultrapolynomial growth of class \*.

Theorem 2.3 1.  $\{\sigma_{m,\infty}, m > 0\}$  (resp.  $\{\wp_{a_p,b_p,\infty}, (a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ) and  $\{s_{m,\infty}, m > 0\}$  (resp.  $\{S_{a_p,b_p,\infty}, (a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ), are equivalent families of norms on the space  $S^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $S^{\{M_p\}}$ ), where

$$s_{m,\infty}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty},$$

$$\left(resp. \ S_{a_p,b_p,\infty}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p)M_{\alpha}(\prod_{p=1}^{\beta} b_p)M_{\beta}}\right).$$

2. If (M.2)' holds then the families of norms  $\{\sigma_{m,r}; m > 0\}$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty]$ ,  $\{s_{m,r}; m > 0\}$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty]$ , and  $\{\varsigma_m; m > 0\}$  (resp.  $\{\wp_{a_p,b_p,r}, (a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ,  $\{S_{a_p,b_p,r}, (a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty]$ , and  $\{\Lambda_{(a_p),(b_p),r}, (a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ) are mutually equivalent on the space  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ), where

$$s_{m,p}(\varphi) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_p,$$

$$\varsigma_m(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)} \exp[M(m|\cdot|)]\|_{\infty},$$

$$(resp. \ \wp_{(a_p),(b_p),r}(\varphi) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\|\langle x \rangle^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_r}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\infty} a_p)M_{\alpha}(\prod_{p=1}^{\infty} b_p)M_{\beta}},$$

$$S_{a_p,b_p,r}(\varphi) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_r}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\infty} a_p)M_{\alpha}(\prod_{p=1}^{\infty} b_p)M_{\beta}},$$

$$\Lambda_m(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{1}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p)M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)} \exp[N_{b_p}(|\cdot|)]\|_{\infty}).$$

3. If (M.2) holds,  $\{s_{m,2}, m > 0\}$  (resp.  $\{S_{a_p,b_p,2}, (a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ) is equivalent to any of the families of norms  $\{\theta_{\delta}, \delta > 0\}$  and  $\{\bar{s}_{m,2}, m > 0\}$  (resp.  $\{\Theta_{a_p}, (a_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$  and  $\{\bar{S}_{a_p}, (a_p) \in \mathcal{R}\}$ ) on the space  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ), where

$$\theta_{\delta}(\varphi) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \mid a_n \mid^2 \exp[2M(\delta\sqrt{2n+1})], \ \varphi \stackrel{L^2}{=} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_n h_n,$$

$$\begin{split} \bar{s}_{m,2}(\varphi) &= \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \| (x^{\beta}\varphi)^{(\alpha)} \|_2 \\ \Big( resp. \ \Theta_{a_p}(\varphi) &= \sum_{n \in \mathbf{N}_0} \mid a_n \mid^2 \exp[2N_{a_p}(\sqrt{2n+1})], \ \varphi \stackrel{L^2}{=} \sum_{n \in \mathbf{N}_0} a_n h_n, \\ \bar{S}_{a_p,b_p}(\varphi) &= \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{\| (x^{\beta}\varphi)^{(\alpha)} \|_2}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p) M_{\alpha}(\prod_{p=1}^{\beta} b_p) M_{\beta}} \end{split}$$

4. Let (M.2) hold and let  $\varphi$  be a smooth function on R. If for each (resp. some)  $\ell > 0$  and each  $\beta \in N_0$ 

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\|x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_2}{\ell^{\alpha} M_{\alpha}} < \infty, \tag{2.2}$$

and for each (resp. some)  $\ell > 0$  and each  $\alpha \in N_0$ 

$$\sup_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\|x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_2}{\ell^{\beta} M_{\beta}} < \infty, \tag{2.3}$$

then for each (resp. some)  $\ell > 0$ 

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_2}{\ell^{\alpha+\beta} M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} < \infty. \tag{2.4}$$

Note,

- If (M.2)' is fulfilled, in the definition of  $S^*$  the space  $S_2^{M_p,m}$  can be replaced by  $S_p^{M_p,m}$ ,  $p \in [1,\infty]$ .
- The last part of the theorem is an analog of Kashpirovski's result:  $S^{\alpha}_{\beta} = S^{\alpha} \cap S_{\beta}$  ([32] see also [17]).

In order to prove the assertion we need the following estimations, which are proved in [32] (see also [2]).

For every  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$x^{m}h_{n}(x) = 2^{-m/2} \sum_{k=0}^{m} \alpha_{k,m}^{(n)} h_{n-m+2k}(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (2.5)

$$0 \le |\alpha_{k,m}^{(n)}| \le {m \choose k} \left( (2n+1)^{m/2} + m^{m/2} \right). \tag{2.6}$$

If n - m + 2k < 0, we take by definition  $h_{n-m+2k} = 0$ .

Let  $\Re^0$  be the identity operator and  $\Re^k = (x^2 - d^2/dx^2)^k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .  $\Re$  is formally a self-adjoint operator and  $\Re h_n = (2n+1)h_n$ . If  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , then

$$\Re^{k} \varphi = \sum_{\substack{0 \le n \le k \\ p+q=2n}} C_{p,q}^{(k)} x^{p} \varphi^{(q)}, \quad |C_{p,q}^{(k)}| \le 10^{k} k^{k - \frac{p+q}{2}}. \tag{2.7}$$

Proof of Theorem 2.3: 1. Obviously, for each smooth function  $\varphi$  and m > 0,  $s_{m,\infty}(\varphi) \leq \sigma_{m,\infty}(\varphi)$ . Since for each L > 0 from (M.3),

$$\frac{L^k k!}{M_k} \longrightarrow 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty, \tag{2.8}$$

see [33, (4.5)], and since

$$\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \le 2^{\beta/2} max \left( 1, |x|^{\beta} \right), \ x \in \mathbf{R}, \ \beta \in \mathbf{N}_0,$$

for each m > 0, there exists C, such that for each smooth function  $\varphi$ , and  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}\|\langle x\rangle^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} 2^{\beta} \max\left(\|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}, \|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}\right)$$

$$\leq \max \left( \mathcal{C} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}, \frac{(2m)^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} \right)$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(2m)^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}} ||x^{\beta} \varphi^{\alpha}||_{\infty} = C s_{m,\infty}(\varphi).$$

Therefore for each m > 0 there exists C such that for each smooth function  $\varphi$ ,  $\sigma_{m,\infty}(\varphi) \leq Cs_{m,\infty}(\varphi)$ .

2. Let  $t \in (1, \infty)$  and  $\gamma = [1/t] + 1$ . Applying (M.2)' we get that for each m > 0 there exists C such that for each smooth function  $\varphi$ ,

$$s_{m,t}(\varphi) \le \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \left( \sup_{|x| \le 1} |x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| + \sup_{|x| > 1} |x^{\beta+\gamma}\varphi^{(\alpha)}| \int_{|x| > 1} |x^{-\gamma}| dx \right)$$

$$(2.9)$$

$$\leq \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta} \|x^\beta \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} + C \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta} H^{\gamma\beta}}{M_\alpha M_{\beta+\gamma}} \|x^{\beta+\gamma} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq Cs_{m(1+H^{\gamma}),\infty}(\varphi).$$

The inequality

20

$$|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| \le \beta \int_{\mathbf{R}} |t^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}(t)|dt + \int_{\mathbf{R}} |t^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha+1)}(t)|dt, \ x \in \mathbf{R},$$

which holds for each smooth function  $\varphi$  and  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and condition (M.2)' imply that for each m > 0 there exists  $\mathcal{C}$ , such that for each smooth function  $\varphi$ ,

$$s_{m,\infty}(\varphi) \leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \left(\beta \int_{\mathbb{R}} |t^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(t)| dt + + \int_{\mathbb{R}} |t^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha+1)}(t)| dt\right)$$
(2.10)

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \frac{2^{\beta} m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |t^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(t)| dt + \frac{(Hm)^{\alpha+1} m^{\alpha+\beta+1}}{M_{\alpha+1} M_{\beta}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |t^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha+1)}(t)| dt \right)$$

$$\leq Cs_{2m(1+H),1}(\varphi).$$

Let  $t \in (1, \infty)$ , q = t/(t-1) and  $\gamma = [1/q] + 1$ . The Hölder inequality, (2.8) and (M.2)' imply that for each m > 0 there exists  $\mathcal{C}$  such that for each smooth function  $\varphi$ ,

$$s_{m,1}(\varphi) = \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \left( \int_{|x| \le 1} |\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| dx + \frac{1}{|x| > 1} |x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| dx \right)$$

$$\leq \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \left( \mathcal{C} \left( \int_{|x| \le 1} |\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^t dx \right)^{1/t} + \frac{1}{|x| > 1} |x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^t dx \right)^{1/t} + \frac{1}{|x| > 1} |x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^t dx$$

$$+ \left( \int_{|x|>1} |x^{\beta+\gamma} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^t dx \right)^{1/t} \left( \int_{|x|>1} |x|^{-\gamma q} dx \right)^{1/q}$$

$$\leq C \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}} \left( \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_t + \|x^{\beta+\gamma} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_t \right)$$

$$\leq C \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_t + \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta} H^{\gamma\beta}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta+\gamma}} \|x^{\beta+\gamma} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_t \right)$$

$$\leq Cs_{m(1+H^{\gamma}),t}(\varphi).$$

The equivalence of  $\{s_{m,r}, m > 0\}$  and  $\{s_{m,p}, m > 0\}$ ,  $r, p \in [1, \infty]$ , follows from (2.9), (2.10) and (2.11). The proof of the equivalence of  $\{\sigma_{m,p}, m > 0\}$  and  $\{\sigma_{m,r}, m > 0\}$ , where  $r, p \in [1, \infty]$ , is analogous.

The condition (M.2)' implies that for each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and each m > 0 there exists  $\mathcal{C}$  such that for each  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and for |x| > k > 1

$$\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} |x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| \leq C \frac{m^{\alpha}(mH)^{\beta+1}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta+1}} |x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|$$

$$\leq \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k} \frac{m^{\alpha} (mH)^{\beta+1}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta+1}} |x^{\beta+1} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| \leq \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k}.$$

Therefore for each m>0 and  $\varphi\in\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ ,  $(m^{\alpha+\beta}/(M_\alpha M_\beta))|x^\beta\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|$  converges uniformly in  $\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0$  to zero as |x| tends to infinity. The definition of the space  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  implies that  $(m^{\alpha+\beta}/(M_\alpha M_\beta))|x^\beta\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|$ , m>0, converges to zero uniformly in  $x\in\mathbb{R}$  as  $(\alpha+\beta)$  tends to infinity. Hence, for given element  $\varphi$  of  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and each m>0 there are  $\alpha_0,\beta_0\in\mathbb{N}_0$  and  $x_0\in\mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta} ||x^\beta \varphi^{(\alpha)}||_\infty = \frac{m^{\alpha_0+\beta_0}}{M_{\beta_0} M_{\alpha_0}} |x_0^{\beta_0} \varphi^{(\alpha_0)}(x_0)|$$

$$= \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} = \|\sup_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} |x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}| \right) \|_{\infty}$$

$$=\|\sup_{\alpha\in\mathbf{N}_0}\left(\sup_{\beta\in\mathbf{N}_0}\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta}|x^\beta\varphi^{(\alpha)}|\right)\|_\infty=\sup_{\alpha\in\mathbf{N}_0}\left(\|\sup_{\beta\in\mathbf{N}_0}\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta}|x^\beta\varphi^{(\alpha)}|\|_\infty\right)$$

$$= \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \| \varphi^{(\alpha)} \exp[M(m\| \cdot \|)] \|_{\infty} \right).$$

3. Let us prove the equivalence of the systems  $\{s_{m,2}, m > 0\}$  and  $\{\theta_{\delta}, \delta > 0\}$ , which together with the fact that

$$\bar{s}_{m,2}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} s_{m,2}(\mathcal{F}\varphi) \text{ and } \theta_{\delta}(\mathcal{F}\varphi) = \theta_{\delta}(\varphi), \quad \varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*,$$

imply the equivalence of  $\{\bar{s}_{m,2}, m > 0\}$  and  $\{\theta_{\delta}, \delta > 0\}$ . It is enough to prove that if (2.4) holds then the estimation

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n|^2 \exp[2M(\delta\sqrt{2n+1})] < \infty, \tag{2.12}$$

holds for  $\delta = (\sqrt{20e} (1+H)^4 \ell)^{-1}$ , and conversely that if (2.12) holds then (2.4) holds for  $\ell = H\sqrt{8/\delta}$ .

Suppose that (2.4) holds. In the estimations which are to follow we shall use (2.7), (M.1), Stirling's formula, (M.2) and the fact that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and L > 0,

$$L^{n-k}\frac{k!}{n!}\frac{M_n}{M_k} \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty, \tag{2.13}$$

which follows from (M.3)' since

$$\frac{k!}{n!} \frac{M_k}{M_n} = \frac{k}{Lm_k} \cdot \frac{k-1}{Lm_{k-1}} \cdot \dots \cdot \frac{n+1}{Lm_{n+1}} \to 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$

where  $m_n = M_n/M_{n-1}$ , n = 1, 2, ... (see [33, (4.5)]).

There exists C such that for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$\left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n|^2 (2n+1)^{2k}\right)^{1/2} = \|\Re^k \varphi\|_2 \le \sum_{\substack{0 \le n \le k \\ p+q=2n}} C_{p,q}^{(k)} \|x^p \varphi^{(q)}\|_2$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq n \leq k \\ p+q=2n}} 10^k k^{k-\frac{p+q}{2}} \ell^{p+q} M_p M_q$$

$$\leq C \sum_{\substack{0 \leq n \leq k \\ p+q=2n}} 10^{k} \frac{k^{k}}{(\frac{p+q}{2})^{\frac{p+q}{2}}} \ell^{p+q} M_{p+q} \leq C \sum_{0 \leq n \leq k} \frac{k! e^{k} 10^{k}}{n!} \ell^{2n} \frac{M_{2n}}{M_{2k}} M_{2k}$$

$$\leq C e^{k} 20^{k} H^{2k} \ell^{2k} \sum_{0 \leq n \leq k} \frac{1}{2^{n}} \frac{k!}{n!} \frac{M_{n} M_{n}}{(Hl)^{2(k-n)} M_{k} M_{k}} M_{2k}$$

$$\leq C e^{k} 20^{k} H^{2k} \ell^{2k} M_{2k}.$$

Moreover, from above and (M.2)' we have that for some C,

$$\left(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n|^2 (2n+1)^{2k-1}\right)^{1/2} \le C e^k 20^k H^{4k} \ell^{2k} M_{2k-1}.$$

It follows that there exists C such that for each  $\alpha, n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$|a_n|^2 (2n+1)^{\alpha} \le C (\sqrt{20e} (1+H)^2 \ell)^{2\alpha} M_{\alpha}^2.$$

By putting  $\alpha + 2$  instead of  $\alpha$  in the above inequality and by using (M.2)' we get that for each  $\alpha, n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\delta = (\sqrt{20e} (1 + H)^4 \ell)^{-1}$  there exists  $\mathcal{C}$ , such that

$$\frac{|a_n|^2 \delta^{2\alpha} (2n+1)^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}^2} \le \frac{\mathcal{C}}{(2n+1)^2},$$

which implies

$$|a_n|^2 \exp[2M(\delta\sqrt{2n+1})] = |a_n|^2 \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\delta^{2\alpha}(2n+1)^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}^2} \le \frac{C}{(2n+1)^2}.$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{N}_0}|a_n|^2\exp[2M(\delta\sqrt{2n+1})]<\infty.$$
 hoka 34 7 cm o

Suppose that for some  $\delta > 0$  inequality (2.12) holds. Applying (2.5) and the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality we get that there exists C such that for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$||x^{m}\varphi||_{2} \leq 2^{-m/2} ||\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} a_{n} \left(\sum_{k \leq m} \alpha_{k,m}^{(n)} h_{n-m+2k}\right)||_{2}$$

$$\leq 2^{-m/2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n| \left( \sum_{k \leq m} \binom{m}{k} \left( (2n+1)^{m/2} + m^{m/2} \right) \right)$$

$$\leq 2^{m/2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n| \exp[M(\delta(2n+1)) - M(\delta(2n+1))] \left( (2n+1)^{m/2} + m^{m/2} \right)$$

$$\leq 2^{m/2} \left( \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n|^2 \exp[2M(\delta(n+1))] \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\cdot \left( \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \exp[-2M(\delta \sqrt{2n+1}))] \left( (2n+1)^{m/2} + m^{m/2} \right)^2 \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C 2^{m/2} \left( \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \exp[-2M(\delta(2n+1))] \left( (2n+1)^{m/2} + m^{m/2} \right)^2 \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C 2^{m/2} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \left( (2n+1)^{m/2} + m^{m/2} \right) \exp\left[ -\frac{1}{2} M(\delta(2n+1)) \right] \right).$$

$$\cdot \left( \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \exp[-M(\delta(2n+1))] \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \left(\frac{2}{\delta}\right)^{m/2} M_m \left(\delta^{m/2} \sup_{n} \frac{(2n+1)^{m/2} \exp[-\frac{1}{2}M(\delta(2n+1))]}{M_m}\right) + \frac{\delta^{m/2} m^{m/2}}{M_m}.$$

$$\frac{\delta^{m/2} m^{m/2}}{M_m} \le \frac{m! e^m \delta^{m/2}}{M_m} \to 0 \text{ as } m \to \infty,$$

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\delta^{m/2} (2n+1)^{m/2} \exp[\frac{-1}{2} M(\delta(2n+1))]}{M_m} = \frac{1}{M_m} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \frac{\delta^m (2n+1)^m}{\exp[M(\delta(2n+1))]} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$=\frac{\sqrt{M_m}}{M_m}\to 0$$
, as  $m\to\infty$ 



which follow from [33, (3.3)], we have that

$$||x^m \varphi||_2 \le \mathcal{C} \left(\sqrt{2/\delta}\right)^m M_m. \tag{2.14}$$

By the Fourier transform we obtain that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$\|\varphi^{(n)}\|_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \|\mathcal{F}(\varphi^{(n)})\|_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \|x^{n}\mathcal{F}(\varphi)\|_{2}$$
(2.15)

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \|x^n \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_k h_k\|_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \|x^n \varphi\|_2 \le C \left(\sqrt{\frac{2}{\delta}}\right)^n M_n.$$
 (2.16)

If  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\gamma = \min(\alpha, 2\beta)$  by using (2.14), (2.15), (M.1), (M.3)' and (M.2) we get

$$\left(\|x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{2}\right)^{2} = (x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}, x^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)})_{L^{2}} = |((x^{2\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)})^{(\alpha)}, \varphi)_{L^{2}}|$$

$$\leq \left|\sum_{\kappa=0}^{\gamma} \binom{\alpha}{\kappa} \frac{(2\beta)!}{(2\beta-\kappa)!} (x^{2\beta-\kappa}\varphi^{(2\alpha-\kappa)}, \varphi)_{L^{2}}\right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\kappa=0}^{\gamma} \binom{\alpha}{\kappa} \binom{2\beta}{\kappa} \kappa! \|x^{2\beta-\kappa}\varphi\|_{2} \|\varphi^{(2\alpha-\kappa)}\|_{2}$$

$$\leq C \sum_{\kappa=0}^{\gamma} {\alpha \choose \kappa} {2\beta \choose \kappa} \kappa! (2/\delta)^{(\alpha+\beta-\kappa)} \frac{M_{\kappa}^2}{M_{\kappa}^2} M_{2\alpha-\kappa} M_{2\beta-\kappa}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\kappa=0}^{\gamma} \binom{\alpha}{\kappa} \binom{2\beta}{\kappa} (2/\delta)^{(\alpha+\beta-\kappa)} \frac{\kappa!}{M_{\kappa}^2} M_{2\alpha} M_{2\beta}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} H^{2(\alpha+\beta)} M_{\alpha}^2 M_{\beta}^2 \sum_{\kappa=0}^{\gamma} \binom{\alpha}{\kappa} \binom{2\beta}{\kappa} (2/\delta)^{\alpha+\beta}$$

$$\leq C 8^{\alpha+\beta} H^{2(\alpha+\beta)} \delta^{-(\alpha+\beta)} M_{\alpha}^2 M_{\beta}^2,$$

which imply that (2.4) holds for  $\ell = H\sqrt{8/\delta}$ .

Applying the analogous reason as in (2.17) one can prove the last part of the theorem.  $\Box$ 

Theorem 2.4 1. The spaces  $S^{(M_p)}$  and  $S'^{\{M_p\}}$  are  $(F\bar{S})$ -spaces  $S^{\{M_p\}}$  and  $S'^{(M_p)}$  are (LS)-spaces.

- 2. If (M.2) is fulfilled  $S^{(M_p)}$  and  $S'^{\{M_p\}}$  are (FN)-spaces  $S^{\{M_p\}}$  and  $S'^{\{M_p\}}$  are (LN)-spaces respectively.
- 3. If (M.2)' is fulfilled then

$$\mathcal{D}^* \, \hookrightarrow \, \mathcal{S}^* \, \hookrightarrow \, \mathcal{E}^*, \quad \mathcal{S}^* \, \hookrightarrow \, \mathcal{S}.$$

$$\mathcal{E}'^* \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'^* \hookrightarrow \mathcal{D}'^*, \quad \mathcal{S}' \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'^*,$$

where " $A \hookrightarrow B$ " means that the inclusion mapping of the space A into the space B is continuous and that A is dense in B.

*Proof:* 1. We will prove that  $S^{(M_p)}$  and  $S^{\{M_p\}}$  are  $(F\bar{S})$  and (LS) spaces respectively. Since the dual an  $(F\bar{S})$ -space is an (LS)-space and vice versa, the rest of the assertion will follow. In order to prove 1., we will prove that the inclusion mapping

$$i: \mathcal{S}_2^{M_p, \tilde{m}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}_2^{M_p, m}, \ m < \tilde{m},$$

is compact. Since  $\mathcal{S}_2^{M_p,\tilde{m}}$  and  $\mathcal{S}_2^{M_p,m}$  are Banach spaces, it is enough to prove that the unit ball B of the space  $\mathcal{S}_2^{M_p,\tilde{m}}$  is a relatively compact set in  $\mathcal{S}_2^{M_p,m}$ . Using the analogous idea as in the proof of [66, p.29, Satz 1] one can prove the next assertion.

A set B is relatively compact in  $\mathcal{S}_2^{M_p,m}$  if and only if

- (i) for each  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the set  $B^{\alpha}_{\beta} = \{\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}, \varphi \in B\}$  is a relatively compact set in  $L^2$ , and
- (ii) the sum  $\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}\langle x\rangle^{\beta}\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^2dx$  converges uniformly for all  $\varphi\in B$ .

Let us prove that B fulfills (i) by checking whether  $B_{\beta}^{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , fulfills the assumptions of Kolmogoroff's Theorem ([19]). It is obvious that for each  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$  the set  $B_{\alpha}^{\beta} = \{\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}, \varphi \in B\}$  is bounded in the space  $L^2$ .

Applying the Hölder inequality and the Fubini-Tonelli theorem we get that for  $\varphi \in B$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$ 

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\langle x+h \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x+h) - \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \left| \frac{d}{dt} (\langle x+th \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x+th)) \right| dt \right)^{2} dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \left| \frac{d}{dt} (\langle x+th \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x+th)) \right|^{2} dt \right) dx$$

$$\leq \beta^{2} h^{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left( \int_{\mathbf{R}} |\langle x+th \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x+th)) |^{2} dx \right) dt$$

$$+ h^{2} \int_{0}^{1} \left( \int_{\mathbf{R}} |\langle x+th \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha+1)}(x+th)) |^{2} dx \right) dt$$

$$\leq \beta^{2} h^{2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{R}} |\langle \xi \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(\xi) |^{2} d\xi \right) + h^{2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{R}} |\langle \xi \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha+1)}(\xi) |^{2} d\xi \right)$$

$$\leq h^{2} \left( \beta^{2} \frac{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}}{\tilde{m}^{\alpha+\beta}} + \frac{M_{\alpha+1} M_{\beta}}{\tilde{m}^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \right).$$

Hence,  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\langle x+h \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x+h) - \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^2 dx$  converges to zero uniformly for  $\varphi \in B$  as h tends to zero.

For each  $\varphi \in B$  and k > 0

$$\langle k \rangle^2 \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [-k,k]} |\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^2 dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [-k,k]} |\langle x \rangle^{\beta+1} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^2 dx \le \frac{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta+1}}{\tilde{m}^{\alpha+\beta+1}}.$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}\backslash[-k,k]} |\langle x\rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^2 dx \leq \langle k\rangle^{-2} \frac{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta+1}}{\tilde{m}^{\alpha+\beta+1}}, \quad \varphi \in B.$$

According to the theorem of Kolmogoroff, it follows that the set  $B_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ ,  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , is relative compact in  $L^2$ .

Let us prove that B fulfills condition (ii). For each  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $\mu \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $m^{\alpha} \leq \varepsilon \tilde{m}^{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \geq \mu$ . Hence, for each  $\varphi \in B$ ,

$$\sum_{\substack{\alpha \geq \mu \\ \beta \in \mathcal{N}_0}} \int_{\mathcal{R}} |\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|^2 dx$$

$$\leq \varepsilon^2 \sum_{\substack{\alpha \geq \mu \\ \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \frac{\tilde{m}^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}} \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x) \right|^2 dx \leq \varepsilon^2.$$

2. If (M.2) is fulfilled  $S^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $S^{\{M_p\}}$ ) is isomorphic to the space of projective (resp. inductive) limit of Köthe space  $\ell^2(b_k)$  (resp.  $\ell^2(c_k)$ ) (see [19]), where

$$b_k = (b_{1,k}, b_{2,k}, \ldots), \quad b_{n,k} = \exp[M(k\sqrt{2n+1})],$$

$$(resp. c_k = (c_{1,k}, c_{2,k}, \ldots), c_{n,k} = \exp[M((1/k)\sqrt{2n+1})]), n, k \in \mathbb{N},$$

respectively. The isomorphism is given by

$$\varphi \mapsto (a_n)$$
 where  $\varphi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n h_n$  (see Theorem 2.3 3.).

In order to prove the assertion it is enough to prove that for some  $\ell > k$ ,

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} b_{n,k}/b_{n,\ell} < \infty \quad \text{(resp.} \quad \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} c_{n,k}/c_{n,\ell} < \infty \text{) (see [19, p.112, 4.3.])}.$$

The inequalities

$$M(k\rho) + M(\rho) \le 2M((k+1)\rho), \quad \rho > 0$$

$$2M(\rho) \le M(H\rho) + \log A$$
,  $\rho > 0$ , ([33, Proposition 3.6.]),

imply that for  $\ell > H(k+1)$ ,

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{b_{n,k}}{b_{n,\ell}} \le \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \exp[-M(\sqrt{2n+1})] < \infty.$$

3. Since the proofs of the assertion in the cases  $*=(M_p)$  and  $*=\{M_p\}$  are analogous we will prove the assertion in the first case. Let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and

 $supp \varphi \subset [-k,k], \ k>1$ . The condition (M.3)' implies that for each m>0 there exists  $\mathcal{C}$ , such that

$$\sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\alpha}} \|\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} = \sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(mk)^{\beta} m^{\alpha}}{M_{\beta}M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}.$$

It follows that the inclusion mapping  $i: \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  is continuous.

The sequence  $(\varphi_j)_j$ , where  $\varphi_j(x) = \rho(x/j)\rho(x)$  and  $\rho$  is a function defined by (2.1) converges to  $\varphi$  in the space  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ , since for fixed  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and m > 0,  $\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta}|x^\beta \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)|$  converges uniformly in  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$  as |x| tends to infinity (see the proof of Theorem 2.3.). It follows that  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ .  $\square$ 

It follows from the above that the space  $S^*$  and its dual space  $S'^*$  are complete, bornologic Montel spaces, that  $S^{(M_p)}$  and  $S'^{\{M_p\}}$  are Freche spaces and if (M.2) is fulfilled  $S^*$  and  $S'^*$  are nuclear and separable. (see [19] and [52]).

Let us compare spaces  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ ,  $(M_p)_{p\in\mathcal{M}}$ , of tempered distributions of Roumieu type, which are defined in the thesis, and the spaces  $\mathcal{S}'_{\omega}$  of  $\omega$ -tempered distributions, which are investigated by Björk and Gruzdinski. Applying [14, Theorem 1.8] one can easily conclude that foe each  $\omega\in\mathcal{A}$  there exists a sequence  $(M_p)\in\mathcal{M}$ , such that its associated function satisfy  $\omega(\rho)\leq M(\rho)$ ,  $\rho>0$ . This implies that  $\mathcal{S}_{\omega}\subset\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  and by the closed graph theorem the inclusion is continuous. If we suppose that  $\omega$  is weighted function in Braun-Meise-Taylor sense not only that there exists a sequence  $(M_p)\in\mathcal{M}$ , such that  $\mathcal{S}_{\omega}\subset\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  and that the inclusion is continuous, but also that for sequence  $(M_p)\in\mathcal{M}$  which satisfy (M.2), and there exists  $k\in\mathbb{N}$ , such that  $\lim\inf_{j\to\infty}m_{jk}/m_j>1$ , its associated function M is equivalent to an element of  $\mathcal{W}$ , hence  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}=\mathcal{S}_M$ .

#### 2.2 Structural Properties

Theorem 2.5 Let  $r \in (1, \infty]$  and  $f \in \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{D}'^{\{M_p\}}$ ).

1. (FIRST STRUCTURAL THEOREM)  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if f is of the form

$$f = \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} (\langle x \rangle^{\beta} F_{\alpha,\beta})^{(\alpha)}, \qquad (2.18)$$

in the sense of convergence in  $S'^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $S'^{\{M_p\}}$ ), where  $(F_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  is a sequence of elements from  $L^r$ , such that for some (resp. each) m>0,

$$\begin{cases}
\left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left|\frac{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}{m^{\alpha+\beta}}F_{\alpha,\beta}(x)\right|^{r}\right)^{1/r} < \infty, & r\in(1,\infty), \\
\sup_{\substack{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_{0}\\x\in\mathbb{R}}}\left(\frac{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}{m^{\alpha+\beta}}|F_{\alpha,\beta}(x)|\right) < \infty, & r=\infty.
\end{cases}$$
(2.19)

2. (SECOND STRUCTURAL THEOREM [50]) Let (M.2) and (M.3) be fulfilled.  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$  if and only if f is of the form

$$f = P(D)F, (2.20)$$

where P is an ultradifferentiable operator of class \*, and F is a continuous function on R of ultrapolynomial growth of class \*.

3. (HERMIT EXPANSION) Let (M.2) be fulfilled.  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if in  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ )

$$f(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_n h_n(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (2.21)

and for some (resp. each)  $\delta > 0$ 

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n|^2 \exp[-2M(\delta\sqrt{2n+1})] < \infty.$$
 (2.22)

Note, the second structural theorem is proved by Pilipović in [50].

Proof: 1. (case  $(M_p)$ ) The proof of the assertion 1 in the case  $(M_p)$  is analogous to the proof of [45, Theorem 5.2.]. It follows easily that (2.18) determines an element of the space  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  let us prove the converse. Let q = r/(r-1). Note,  $q \in [1, \infty)$ . Since  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  is a strict  $(F\bar{S})$ -space, we have

$$\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)} = \operatorname{ind} \lim_{m \to \infty} \left( \overline{\mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}} \right)',$$

in the sense of strong topologies, where  $\overline{\mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}}$  is the closure of  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  in the space  $\mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}$ , with the topology induced by the space  $\mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}$ .

If  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$ , there exists m > 0, such that f has a continuous linear extension on  $\overline{\mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}}$ . The Hahn-Banach theorem implies that f has a continuous, linear extension on  $\mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}$  with the same dual norm. We denote this extension again by f. Let  $T_p(m)$  be the space of sequences  $(\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  from  $L^r(\mathbb{R})$  equipped with the norm

$$\|(\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta}\| = \left(\sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbf{N_0}} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left| \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\beta} M_{\alpha}} \psi_{\alpha,\beta} \right|^q dx \right)^{1/q} < \infty.$$

The mapping

$$i: \mathcal{S}_q^{M_p m} \to T_q(m) \quad i: \varphi \mapsto ((-1)^{\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)})_{\alpha,\beta}$$

is an isometry of  $\mathcal{S}_q^{M_pm}$  onto  $G_p(m)=i\left(\mathcal{S}_q^{M_pm}\right)\subset T_q(m)$ . We define a continuous linear functional  $\tilde{f}$  on  $G_q(m)$  by

$$\langle \tilde{f}, (\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta} \rangle = \langle f, i^{-1}((\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta}) \rangle, \ (\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta} \in G_q(m).$$

Again by the Hahn-Banach theorem we extended  $\tilde{f}$  linearly and continuously on  $T_q(m)$  with the same dual norm, and denote this extension by F.

It is known (see [66, p.29, Hilfsatz 2.]) that the fact  $F \in (T_q(m))'$  implies the existence of a sequence  $(F_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}$  from  $L^r$  such that F has a form

$$\langle F, (\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta} \rangle = \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} F_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \psi_{\alpha,\beta}(x) dx, \ ((\psi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta}) \in T_q(m),$$

and the norm of F is given by

$$||F|| = \begin{cases} \left( \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \frac{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}}{m^{\alpha + \beta}} F_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \right|^r \right)^{1/r} < \infty, & r \in (1,\infty), \\ \sup_{\substack{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ x \in \mathbb{R}}} \frac{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta}}{m^{\alpha + \beta}} |F_{\alpha,\beta}(x)| < \infty, & r = \infty. \end{cases}$$

Thus  $||F|| = ||f|| < \infty$  and for each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  we have,

$$\langle f, \varphi \rangle = \langle \tilde{f}, ((-1)^{\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}) \rangle_{\alpha, \beta} = \langle F, ((-1)^{\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)})_{\alpha, \beta} \rangle$$

$$=\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}(-1)^\alpha\int_{\mathbb{R}}F_{\alpha,\beta}(x)\langle x\rangle^\beta\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)dx=\sum_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}\langle(\langle x\rangle^\alpha\ F_{\alpha,\beta})^{(\beta)},\varphi\rangle,$$

which implies 1. in the case  $(M_p)$ .

1. (case  $\{M_p\}$ ) It follows easily that (2.18) determines an element of  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ . To prove the converse we will use the dual Mittag-Leffler lemma ([33, Lemma 1.4]) similarly as in the proof of [33, Proposition 8.6].

Let  $X_m = \mathcal{S}_q^{M_p,m}$  and let  $Y_m = \{(\varphi_{\alpha,\beta})_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0}, ||\varphi||_{Y_m} < \infty\}$ , where q = r/(r-1), and

$$||\varphi||_{Y_m} = \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} ||\varphi_{\alpha,\beta}||_p.$$

The space  $Y_m$  is reflexive Banach space. According to Banach-Alaoglu's theorem ([54]), bounded set in  $Y_m$  is weakly compact  $Y_m$ . Therefore the inclusion mapping  $i:Y_{m'}\to Y_m$ , m'>m is weakly compact. We will identify  $X_m$  with a closed subspace of  $Y_m$  in which is  $X_m$  is mapped by the mapping

$$X_m \to Y_m, \langle x \rangle^{\beta} D^{\alpha} : \varphi \mapsto (\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)})_{\alpha,\beta}.$$

Clearly  $(X_m)$  and  $(Y_m)$  are injective sequences of Banach spaces and if m' > m than  $X_{m'} \cap Y_m = X_m$ . It follows that the quotient space  $Z_m = Y_m/X_m$  (with the quotient topology) is also an injective weakly compact sequence of Banach spaces. It follows from the dual Mittag-Leffler lemma that

$$0 \leftarrow \lim \operatorname{proj}_{m \to 0} X'_m \overset{\sum (-1)^{\alpha} D^{\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{\beta}}{\longleftarrow} \lim \operatorname{proj}_{m \to 0} Y'_m$$

is topologically exact (see [33]). The above and the facts:  $\limsup_{m\to 0} X_m' = (\liminf_{m\to 0} X_m)'$  and  $\limsup_{m\to 0} Y_m' = (\liminf_{m\to 0} Y_m)'$  imply that the space  $\liminf_{m\to 0} X_m$  has the same strong dual as  $\liminf_{m\to 0} X_m$ , which is a closed subspace of  $\liminf_{m\to 0} Y_m$ . Since  $Y_m'$  is the Banach space of all  $F = (F_{\alpha,\beta}), F_{\alpha,\beta} \in L^r$ , such that

$$\|f\|_{Y_m'} = \begin{cases} \left( \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \frac{M_\alpha M_\beta}{m^{\alpha+\beta}} F_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \right|^r \right)^{1/r}, & r \in (1,\infty), \\ \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \frac{M_\alpha M_\beta}{m^{\alpha+\beta}} |F_{\alpha,\beta}(x)| \right), & r = \infty. \end{cases}$$

The assertion is proved.

3. Note  $h_n \in \mathcal{S}^*$ . Clearly, if f is of the form (2.21) and (2.22) holds, then it belongs to  $\mathcal{S}^*$ , and  $a_n = \langle f, h_n \rangle$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

Assume that  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$ . Let  $a_n = \langle f, h_n \rangle$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . For each  $\varphi \stackrel{L^2}{=} \sum_n b_n h_n$ , which is element of  $\mathcal{S}^*$  we have,

$$\langle f, \varphi \rangle = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_n \bar{b}_n.$$

From the theory of Köthe space and the fact that for some  $\delta > 0$  (resp. for every  $\delta > 0$ ),  $\sum |b_n|^2 \exp[2M(\delta\sqrt{(2n+1)}] < \infty$ , it follows that (2.22) holds for the sequence  $(a_n)$ .

Put  $f_n = \sum_{k \leq n} a_k h_k$ . One can easily prove that for every  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}'^*$  the sequence  $(\langle f - f_n, \varphi \rangle)$  tends to zero when  $n \to \infty$ .  $\square$ 

#### 2.3 Boundary value representation

**Theorem 2.6** Let (M.2) and (M.3) be fulfilled and let f be a continuous ultradifferentiable function of class \* of ultrapolynomial growth of class \* with Hermite series expansion  $\sum_{n} a_n h_n$ .

1. The sum  $\sum_{n} (ia_n/(2\pi))\tilde{h}_n(\zeta)$  (see 2.) converges uniformly in compact subsets of eider the upper or lower open half plane.

- 2. The sum  $\sum_{n} (ia_n/(2\pi))(\tilde{h}_n(\zeta) \tilde{h}_n(\bar{\zeta}))$  converges in the upper half plane to a real harmonic function  $u(\zeta)$ .
- 3. The function  $u(\xi + i\eta)$  converges to  $f(\xi)$  as  $\eta \to 0^+$  uniformly on compact subsets of R.

Proof: 0. Let us first prove next assertion. If (M.2)' is fulfilled,  $K \subset \mathbf{R}$  is a compact set, such that  $K \subset (-\infty,0)$  or  $(0,\infty)$  and  $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}+iK$ , then the function

 $\varphi_{\zeta}: \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{C}, \ t \mapsto \varphi_{\zeta}(t) = \frac{\exp(-t^2/2)}{2\pi i (t-\zeta)},$  (2.23)

is an element of  $S^*$ , and the family  $\{\varphi_{\zeta}, \zeta \in \mathbf{R} + iK\}$  is uniformly bounded in  $S^*$ .

In [47] is proved that

$$|t^{\beta}\varphi_{\zeta}^{(\alpha)}(t)| \leq C\beta^{\beta/2}\alpha! \sum_{\gamma=0}^{\alpha} |\eta|^{-\alpha+\gamma-1}, \quad \zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbf{R} + iK.$$

Applying the Stirling formula, the fact that

$$\sup_{\eta \in K} \left( \sum_{\gamma=0}^{\alpha} |\eta|^{-\alpha+\gamma-1} \right) \leq (\alpha+1) \sup_{0 \leq \gamma \leq \alpha} \left( \inf_{\eta \in K} |\eta| \right)^{-\alpha+\gamma-1},$$

and the conditions (M.2)' and (M.3)' we get that there is C which depends on K, such that

$$|t^{\beta}\varphi_{\zeta}^{(\alpha)}(t)| \leq C \frac{m^{\alpha}H^{\alpha}(\alpha+1)! \, m^{\beta}e^{\beta}\beta!}{M_{\alpha+1}M_{\beta}} \, \frac{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}{m^{\alpha}m^{\beta}} \leq C \frac{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}{m^{\alpha}m^{\beta}}.$$

This implies the assertion.

1. Let K be a compact subset of  $(0, \infty)$  or  $(-\infty, 0)$  and let B be bounded subset of R. Since

$$\tilde{h}_n(\zeta)h_m(\zeta) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h_n(t)h_m(t)}{t-\zeta} dt, \quad \text{Im}\zeta \neq 0, \quad m \leq n,$$

we have for  $\zeta \in B + iK$ 

$$\pi^{-1/4} \exp(-\zeta^2/2) \tilde{h}_n(\zeta) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2)}{\zeta - t} dt = \langle \varphi_{\zeta}(t), h_n(t) \rangle,$$

where  $\varphi_{\zeta}$  denotes the function defined by (2.23). Therefore,

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left| \frac{i a_n}{2\pi} \tilde{h}_n(\zeta) \right| \le \left| \exp(\zeta^2/2) \right| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n| \left| \langle \varphi_{\zeta}, h_n \rangle \right|$$

$$\leq |\exp(\zeta^2/2)| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |a_n|^2 \exp[2M(\delta\sqrt{2n+1})]$$

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} |\langle \varphi_{\zeta}, h_n \rangle|^2 \exp[-2M(\delta \sqrt{2n+1})] < \infty, \quad \zeta \in B + iK.$$

2. The convergence of the given series follows from 1.. The limit function is harmonic, since for  $\zeta \in C_+$ ,

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} (ic_n/(2\pi))(\tilde{h}_n(\zeta) - \tilde{h}_n(\bar{\zeta}))$$

$$= \pi^{1/4} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{i a_n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2) \left( \frac{\exp(\zeta^2/2)}{\zeta - t} - \frac{\exp(\bar{\zeta}^2/2)}{\bar{\zeta} - t} \right) dt,$$

the expression in the brackets is purely imaginary and  $\sum_{n} (ic_n/(2\pi))(\tilde{h}_n(\zeta) - \tilde{h}_n(\bar{\zeta}))$  is real.

3. For  $\zeta \in C_+$  and  $n \in N_0$ 

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} (\tilde{h}_n(\zeta) - \tilde{h}_n(\bar{\zeta}))$$

$$= \left( \exp(-\bar{\zeta}^2/2) - \exp(\bar{\zeta}^2/2) \right) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h_n(t)e^{-t^2/2}}{\bar{\zeta} - t} dt -$$

$$- \exp(\zeta^2/2) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2) \left( \frac{1}{\zeta - t} - \frac{1}{\bar{\zeta} - t} \right) dt.$$

Using the assertion proved in part 0. of this proof, the fact that f is a regular element of  $S'^*$  and that  $f = \sum c_n h_n$  in the weak sense in  $S'^*$ , we get

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2) \left( \frac{1}{\zeta - t} - \frac{1}{\overline{\zeta} - t} \right) dt$$

$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{i c_n}{2\pi} h_n(t) \left( \varphi_{\zeta}(t) - \varphi_{\bar{\zeta}}(t) \right) dt$$

$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{i c_n}{2\pi} \langle h_n, \varphi_{\zeta} - \varphi_{\bar{\zeta}} \rangle = \frac{i}{2\pi} \langle f, \varphi_{\zeta} - \varphi_{\bar{\zeta}} \rangle$$

$$=\frac{i}{2\pi}\int_{\mathbf{R}}f(t)\exp(-t^2/2)\left(\frac{1}{\zeta-t}-\frac{1}{\bar{\zeta}-t}\right)\,dt.$$

Therefore for  $\zeta = \xi + i\eta$ ,

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \left( -\exp(\zeta^2/2) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2) \left( \frac{1}{\zeta - t} - \frac{1}{\bar{\zeta} - t} \right) dt \right)$$

$$= \exp(\xi^2/2) \frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbf{R}} f(t) \exp(-t^2/2) \left( \frac{1}{\zeta - t} - \frac{1}{\bar{\zeta} - t} \right) dt.$$

Since the right-hand side of the above equality is the Poisson integral representation of the function  $f \exp(-t^2/2)$  at  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , it follows that

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \left( -\exp(\zeta^2/2) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2) \left( \frac{1}{\zeta - t} - \frac{1}{\bar{\zeta} - t} \right) dt \right) = f(t)$$

and the convergence is uniform on K.

Since f is a regular element of  $S'^*$ , we have

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} f(t) \frac{e^{-t^2/2}}{t - \bar{\zeta}} dt = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} c_n \int_{\mathbf{R}} h_n(t) \frac{e^{-t^2/2}}{t - \bar{\zeta}} dt.$$

The integral on the left-hand side is convergent for almost all  $\xi$  as  $\eta \to 0^+$  (see [60, Theorem 105]) and thus for almost all  $\xi$ , we have

$$\lim_{n \to 0^+} (\exp(\bar{\zeta}^2/2) - \exp(\zeta^2/2) \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{ic_n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{h_n(t) \exp(-t^2/2)}{t - \bar{\zeta}} dt = 0.$$

Since  $\exp(i\eta\xi) - \exp(-i\eta\xi) \to 0$ , as  $\eta \to 0^+$ , uniformly on K. In order to prove that the above convergence is uniform on K it is enough to prove that the integral  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(t)e^{-t^2/2}(t-\bar{\zeta})^{-1} dt$  is uniformly bounded for  $\xi \in K$ ,  $\eta \in (0,\varepsilon)$ . Let  $F = f \exp(-x^2/2)$  and  $H = h \exp(-x^2/2)$ , where h is a smooth function such that in the case  $*=(M_p)$  for some L>0 and C and in the case  $*=\{M_p\}$  for each L there exists C, such that

$$|f(x)| \le h(x) \le \sup(|h(x)|, |h'(x)|) \le \mathcal{C} \exp[M(L|x|)], \ x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The function  $h=(\omega*\tilde{h})$ , where  $\omega\in\mathcal{D}^*$  is such that  $\omega\geq0$ ,  $\mathrm{supp}\omega\subset[-1,1]$ ,  $\int_{[-1,1]}\omega(t)dt=1$  and  $\tilde{h}(x)=\mathrm{sup}_{|u|\leq|x|+2}|f(u)|$  fulfills the above condition. Let us prove that. For almost all  $x\in\mathbb{R}$ 

$$h(x) = \int_{-1}^{1} \tilde{h}(x-t)\omega(t)dt \ge \max\left(\tilde{h}(|x|-1), \tilde{h}(|x|)\right) \ge |f(x)|.$$

 $L_1 = 40L$ . Since f is of ultrapolynomial growth of class \*

$$h(x) \le h(|x|+1) \le C \sup_{|t| \le |x|+3} \exp[M(L|x|)] \le C \exp[M(L_1|x|)], \ x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Since

$$|h'(x)| \le \tilde{h}(|x|+1) \int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega'(t)| dt, \ x \in \mathbf{R},$$

by the same argument we finish the proof of the assertion.

From the estimation

$$\left| \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{F(t)}{t - \overline{\zeta}} dt \right| \leq \left| \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{t F(t + \xi)}{t^2 + \eta^2} dt \right| + \sup_{t \in \mathbf{R}} |F(t)| \, \eta \, \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{dt}{(t - \xi)^2 + \eta^2},$$

it follows that we have to prove only that the first integral on the right-hand side of the above inequality is uniformly bounded for  $\xi \in K$  and  $\eta \in (0, \varepsilon)$ . For each  $\xi \in K$ , we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{tF(t+\xi)}{t^2 + \eta^2} dt \right| \le \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{tH(t+\xi)}{t^2 + \eta^2} dt$$

$$\leq \int_0^\infty \frac{t(H(\xi+t)-H(\xi-t))}{t^2+\eta^2} dt$$

$$\leq \int_0^\infty \left| \int_{-1}^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u} H(\xi + tu) du \right| dt \leq 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} H'(t) dt < \infty. \square$$

One can analogously as in [47] deduce a boundary value representation of  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ .

Let us recall the following assertion.

Lemma 2.7 [64, Lemma 1] If  $t \ge 0$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

1.  $\tilde{h}_n(it)/\tilde{h}_n(0)$  is real, positive and monotonically decreasing;

2.  $\tilde{h}_n(0)/\tilde{h}_{n-1}(0)$  is bounded.

Theorem 2.8 Let  $f = (\sum_n a_n h_n) \in \mathcal{S}'^*$  and let

$$u(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_n \frac{h_n(\xi)\tilde{h}_n(\eta)}{\tilde{h}_n(0)}, \ v(\xi,\eta) = i \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_{n-1} \frac{h_n(\xi)\tilde{h}_n(\eta)}{\tilde{h}_{n-1}(0)}, \ \xi + i\eta \in \mathcal{C}_+.$$

Than u and v are real valued smooth functions for  $(\xi,\eta)$  in the open upper half plane;  $u(\cdot,\eta)$  converges to f in  $S'^*$  and  $v(\cdot,\eta)$  converges to

$$\tilde{f} = i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{n-1} \frac{\tilde{h}_n(0)}{\tilde{h}_{n-1}(0)} h_n,$$

in  $S'^*$  as  $\eta \to 0^+$ .

*Proof:* Let  $\varphi = \sum_n d_n h_n \in \mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\eta \geq 0$  than

$$\left| \langle u(\cdot, \eta), \varphi \rangle - \langle f, \varphi \rangle \right| = \left| a_n \bar{d}_n (1 - \tilde{h}_n(i\eta)) \tilde{h}_n^{-1}(0) \right| \tag{2.24}$$

and

$$|\langle v(\cdot, \eta), \varphi \rangle - \langle \tilde{f}, \varphi \rangle| = \left| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} c_{n-1} \bar{d}_n \frac{\tilde{h}_n(i\eta) - \tilde{h}_n}{\tilde{h}_{n-1}(0)} \right|. \tag{2.25}$$

The fact that the series  $(\sum c_n \bar{d}_n)$  and  $(\sum c_{n-1} \bar{d}_n)$  converge and the properties of the hermit functions of the second kind, which are given in the previous lemma, imply that the right-hand side of (2.24) and (2.25) converge uniformly for all  $\eta \geq 0$ . We can therefore take the limit  $\eta \to 0^+$  termwiese and conclude the desired result.  $\square$ 

## Chapter 3

## **Elementary Operations**

Elementary operations (translation, differentiation, ultradifferentiation and multiplication) on  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  are investigated in this chapter. The space  $\mathcal{O}_M^{(M_p)}$  of multipliers of the spaces  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  is determined explicitly.

Let

$$P^{(M_p)}(x,D) = \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_{\mu,\nu} (-1)^{\nu} D^{\nu} x^{\mu},$$

$$(3.1)$$

$$(\text{resp. } P^{\{M_p\}}(x,D) = \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} a_{\mu,\nu} (-1)^{\nu} D^{\nu} x^{\mu}), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

where  $a_{\mu,\nu}$  are complex numbers such that there exist L>0 and  $\mathcal C$  (resp. every L>0 there exists  $\mathcal C$ ) and

$$|a_{\mu,\nu}| \le C \frac{L^{\mu+\nu}}{M_{\mu}M_{\nu}}, \ \mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
 (3.2)

The formal adjoint operator  $(\sum_{\mu,\nu} a_{\mu,\nu} x^{\nu} D^{\mu})$  of  $P^*(x,D)$  will be denoted by  $Q^*(x,D)$ . Note, for each fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $P^*(x,D)$  is an ultradifferencial operator of class \*.

**Theorem 3.1** 1. Let  $h_0 > 0$ . The family of translation operators

$$\tau_h: \mathcal{S}^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^*, \ \tau_h: \varphi(\cdot) \mapsto \varphi(\cdot - h), \ |h| \leq h_0,$$

is uniformly continuous.

2. If (M.2)' is fulfilled the mappings

$$(-1)^{\nu}D^{\nu}: \mathcal{S}^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^*, \quad \varphi \mapsto (-1)^{\nu}D^{\nu}\varphi, \quad \nu \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{3.3}$$

$$P^*(x,D): \mathcal{S}^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}, \ \varphi \mapsto P^*(x,D)\varphi,$$
 (3.4)

and their adjoint mappings

$$D^{\mu}: \mathcal{S}^{\prime *} \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^{\prime *}, \quad \nu \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{3.5}$$

$$Q^*(x,D): S' \longrightarrow S'^*, \tag{3.6}$$

are continuous. For each  $f \in S'$  (tempered distribution) we have

$$Q^{*}(x,D)f = \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} a_{\mu,\nu} x^{\mu} D^{\nu} f, \qquad (3.7)$$

where the series on the right hand side converge absolutely in  $S'^*$ .

3. If (M.2) is fulfilled the mapping

$$P^*(x,D): S^* \longrightarrow S^*, \varphi \mapsto P^*(x,D)\varphi,$$
 (3.8)

and its adjoint

$$Q^*(x,D): \mathcal{S}'^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}'^*, \tag{3.9}$$

is continuous and for each  $f \in S'^*$  and (3.7) holds.

*Proof:* We will prove the theorem only in the case  $*=(M_p)$ , using the definition of the space  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and Theorem 2.3. Analogously applying Theorem 2.2 and Theorem 2.3 the assertion can be proved in the case  $*=\{M_p\}$ .

1. If m > 0,  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  and  $|h| \le h_0$ , we have

$$\sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}}\|\langle x\rangle^{\beta}(\tau_h\varphi)^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}\leq$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}} |\langle x-h\rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| \leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(2\langle h_0\rangle m)^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} ||\langle x\rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}||_{\infty}.$$

2. We will prove only the continuity of the mappings (3.4) and (3.6) since the proof of continuity of (3.3) and (3.5) is similar and simpler. Let us

prove that (3.4) is a continuous mapping. Applying (3.2), (M.2)', (M.1), and (M.3)', we get that for  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$||x^{\beta}(P(x,D)\varphi)^{(\alpha)}||_{\infty} \le$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{k=0}^{\min(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} \binom{\alpha+\nu}{k} \frac{L^{\nu+\mu}}{M_{\nu}M_{\mu}}, \|((x^{\beta})^{(k)}x^{\mu}\varphi)^{(\alpha+\nu-k)}\|_{\infty} \leq$$

$$\leq C \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\min(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} {\alpha+\nu \choose k} {\beta \choose k} k! \cdot \right)$$

$$\cdot \frac{H^{\alpha\nu}H^{\beta\mu}L^{\nu+\mu}}{M_{\nu+\alpha}M_{\mu+\beta}} \|(x^{\mu+\beta-k}\varphi)^{(\nu+\alpha-k)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathcal{N}_0} \sum_{k=0}^{\min(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} \binom{\alpha+\nu}{k} \binom{\beta}{k} \frac{1}{4^{\mu+\nu}} \frac{((1+4L)(1+H^\alpha)(1+H^\beta))^{2k}k!}{M_k}$$

$$\frac{((1+4L)(1+H^{\alpha})(1+H^{\beta}))^{\mu+\nu+\alpha+\beta-2k}}{M_{\nu+\alpha-k} M_{\mu+\beta-k}} ||(x^{\mu+\beta-k} \varphi)^{(\nu+\alpha-k)}||_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sup_{\vartheta,\eta} \frac{((1+4L)(1+H^{\alpha})(1+H^{\beta}))^{\vartheta+\eta}}{M_{\vartheta}M_{\eta}} \|(x^{\eta}\varphi)^{(\vartheta)}\|_{\infty}.$$

This implies the continuity of (3.4).

Taking into account that the image of a bounded set under a continuous linear mapping is a bounded set, the continuity of 3. Let us prove that (3.8) is a continuous mapping. Applying respectively (M.2), (M.1) and (M.3)' we get that for each m > 0 there exists C such that for each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$\sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|x^{\beta} (P^*(x,D)\varphi)^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} \le$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{k=0}^{\min(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} {\alpha+\nu \choose k} {\beta \choose k} k! \frac{H^{\nu+\alpha}H^{\mu+\beta}m^{\beta+\alpha}}{M_{\nu+\alpha}M_{\mu+\beta}} L^{\mu+\nu}.$$

$$\cdot \|(x^{\mu+\beta-k}\varphi)^{(\nu+\alpha-k)}\|_{\infty} \leq$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{k=0}^{\min(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} \frac{1}{8^{\alpha+\beta+\mu+\nu}} \binom{\alpha+\nu}{k} \binom{\beta}{k}.$$

$$\cdot \frac{k!(8mL(1+H))^{2k}}{M_k M_k} \frac{(8mL(1+H))^{\alpha+\beta+\mu+\nu-2k}}{M_{\nu+\alpha-k} M_{\mu+\beta-k}} ||(x^{\mu+\beta-k}\varphi)^{(\nu+\alpha-k)}||_{\infty}$$

$$= \min_{(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} \min_{(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} ||(x^{\mu+\beta-k}\varphi)^{(\nu+\alpha-k)}||_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\mu,\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{k=0}^{\min(\alpha+\nu,\beta)} \frac{1}{8^{\alpha+\beta+\mu+\nu}} \frac{(16mL(1+H))^{\alpha+\beta+\mu+\nu-2k}}{M_{\nu+\alpha-k}M_{\mu+\beta-k}}.$$

$$\cdot \|(x^{\mu+\beta-k}\varphi)^{(\nu+\alpha-k)}\|_{\infty} \leq$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(16mL(1+H))^{\beta+\alpha}}{M_{\beta}M_{\alpha}} \|(x^{\beta}\varphi)^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty},$$

which imply the continuity of (3.8).

Suppose (M.2)' (resp. (M.2)). Let  $f \in \mathcal{S}'$  (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$ ). Since for each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*$ 

$$\langle f, \sum_{\mu,\nu \leq n} a_{\mu,\nu} (-1)^{\nu} D^{\nu} x^{\mu} \varphi \rangle = \langle \sum_{\mu,\nu \leq n} a_{\mu,\nu} x^{\mu} D^{\nu} f, \varphi \rangle$$

converges to

$$\langle f, P(x, D)\varphi \rangle = \langle \sum_{\mu,\nu \leq n} a_{\mu,\nu} x^{\mu} D^{\nu} f, \varphi \rangle,$$

as  $n \to \infty$ , (3.7) is a continuous mapping.

Applying similar arguments as in the proof of the continuity of (3.6), one can prove the continuity of (3.9).  $\square$ 

### 3.1 The spaces of multipliers

Definition 3.2  $\mathcal{O}_M^*$  is the space of all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^*$  such that for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  the pointwiese product  $\varphi \cdot \psi$  belongs to  $\mathcal{S}^*$ . The topology on  $\mathcal{O}_M^*$  is coarsest topology such that for each  $\phi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  the mapping  $\mathcal{O}_M^* \to \mathcal{S}^*$  defined by  $\psi \mapsto \psi \phi$  is continuous.

The inclusion mappings  $\mathcal{S}^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_M^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}'^*$  are continuous. Moreover,  $\mathcal{S}^*$  is dense in  $\mathcal{O}_M^*$ .

Theorem 3.3 Let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^*$ .

#### 1. The condition

(a) for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ), the pointwiese product  $\varphi \psi$  belongs to  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ );

implies the next one

(b) for every m>0 there exist  $\ell>0$  and C (resp. for some m>0 and every  $\ell>0$  there is C) such that

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} |\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x)| \le C \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\ell^{\beta}}{M_{\beta}} \langle x \rangle^{\beta}, \ x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (3.10)

2. If (M.2) is fulfilled the above conditions are equivalent.

*Proof:* Let us assume that  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\varphi \in \mathcal{E}^{\{M_p\}}$ ), that (1a) is and (1b) is not fulfilled. For some (resp. for each) m > 0 there exists a sequence  $(x_j)_j$  such that  $|x_j|$  tends to infinity as  $j \to \infty$ , and

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} |\varphi^{(\alpha)}(x_j)| > M_j \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{M_{\beta}} \langle x_j \rangle^{\beta}.$$
 (3.11)

Without the loss of generality we may suppose that  $|x_j|+2 \leq |x_{j+1}|, j \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consider the function  $\phi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  (resp.  $\phi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ), defined by (2.1). The conditions (M.1) and (M.3)' imply that for some (resp. for each) m > 0

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} |(\phi \varphi)^{(\alpha)}(x_j)| = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \sum_{k=0}^{\alpha} {\alpha \choose k} |\frac{\rho^{(k)}(0)}{\langle x_j \rangle^j} \varphi^{(\alpha-k)}(x_j)|$$

$$= \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{m^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \left| \frac{\rho(0)}{\langle x_j \rangle^j} \varphi^{(\alpha)}(x_j) \right| > M_j \sum_{\beta \geq j} \frac{1}{M_{\beta}} \langle x_j \rangle^{\beta - j}$$

$$\geq M_j \sum_{\beta \geq j} \frac{1}{M_{\beta-j} M_j} \langle x_j \rangle^{\beta-j} = \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{M_\beta} \langle x_j \rangle^{\beta} > 1.$$

Hence, for some (resp. for each) m > 0,  $(\sup_{\alpha} (m^{\alpha}/M_{\alpha})|(\phi\varphi)^{\alpha}(x_{j})|)$  does not converge to zero as  $|x_{j}| \to \infty$ , which is a contradiction (see the proof of Theorem 2.3, p. 17).

Let (1b) and (M.2) be fulfilled and let  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ). We will prove that  $\varphi \psi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  (resp.  $\varphi \psi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ). The conditions (M.1), (1b) and (M.2) imply that for each m > 0 there exist  $\ell > 1$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  (resp. for some m > 0 and every  $\ell > 0$  there is  $\mathcal{C}$ ), such that

$$\sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta}\|\langle x\rangle^\beta(\psi\varphi)^{(\alpha)}\|_\infty\leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta\in\mathbb{N}_0}\sum_{k\leq\alpha}\binom{\alpha}{k}\frac{m^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_\alpha M_\beta}\|\langle x\rangle^\beta\psi^{(k)}\varphi^{(\alpha-k)}\|_\infty$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{k \leq \alpha} \binom{\alpha}{k} \frac{m^{k+\beta}}{M_k M_\beta} \|\langle x \rangle^\beta \psi^{(k)} \frac{(4m)^{\alpha-k}}{M_{\alpha-k}} \varphi^{(\alpha-k)} \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{k \leq \alpha} \binom{\alpha}{k} \frac{1}{4^{\alpha}} \frac{(4m)^{k+\beta}}{M_k M_{\beta}} \| \sum_{\gamma} \frac{\ell^{\gamma}}{M_{\gamma}} \langle x \rangle^{\beta+\gamma} \psi^{(k)} \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(4m)^{k+\beta}}{M_k M_\beta} \| \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{\ell^{\gamma}}{M_{\gamma}} \langle x \rangle^{\beta+\gamma} \psi^{(k)} \|_{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0} \binom{\alpha}{k} \frac{1}{4^{\alpha}}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(4m)^{\alpha+\beta} \ell^{\gamma}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta} M_{\gamma}} \|\langle x \rangle^{\beta+\gamma} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{2^{\gamma}} \frac{(4m)^{\alpha+\beta} (2\ell)^{\gamma} H^{\beta+\gamma}}{M_{\alpha} M_{\beta+\gamma}} \|\langle x \rangle^{\beta+\gamma} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{(4m\ell(1+H))^{\alpha+\beta}}{M_{\alpha}M_{\beta}} \|\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} < \infty. \square$$

Theorem 3.4 1. The mapping

$$\mathcal{O}_M^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}'^*, \ \varphi \mapsto f\varphi, \ f \in \mathcal{S}'^*,$$

is continuous.

2. Suppose (M.2). The pointwiese multiplication

$$S^* \times \mathcal{O}_M^* \longrightarrow S^*, \ (\psi, \varphi) \mapsto \psi \varphi,$$
 (3.12)

$$S'^* \times \mathcal{O}_M^* \longrightarrow S'^*, \ (f, \varphi) \mapsto f\varphi,$$
 (3.13)

are separately continuous mappings.

*Proof:* 1. The assertion follows immediately the following facts: by the definition of  $\mathcal{O}_M^*$  the mapping

$$\mathcal{O}_M^* \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^*, \qquad \varphi \mapsto \psi \varphi, \qquad \psi \in \mathcal{S}^*,$$

is continuous  $\langle f\varphi, \phi \rangle = \langle f, \varphi\phi \rangle$ , for each  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^*$ .

2. From the first part of the theorem and the proof of Theorem 3.1, it follows that (3.12) is separately continuous. Since, for each  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^*$ ,  $\langle f\varphi, \phi \rangle = \langle f, \varphi \phi \rangle$ , and since (3.12) is separately continuous, (3.13) has the same property.

**Theorem 3.5** If  $\phi \in \mathcal{E}^*$  and for all  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$ , the product  $\phi f$  belongs to  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ , then  $\phi$  belongs to  $\mathcal{O}_M^*$ .

*Proof:* Our assumption implies that for every  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  the mapping

$$f \mapsto \langle \phi f, \varphi \rangle,$$

is continuous linear functional on  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ . Since  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  is a reflexive space (since it is Montel), there is  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  such that for each  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$ ,

$$\langle \phi f, \varphi \rangle = \langle f, \psi \rangle.$$

In particular, for each  $\rho \in \mathcal{D}^*$ , we have

$$\langle \phi \rho, \varphi \rangle = \langle \rho, \psi \rangle,$$

which implies that

$$\langle \rho, \phi \varphi \rangle = \langle \rho, \psi \rangle.$$

Hence for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*$  we have  $\phi \varphi = \psi \in \mathcal{S}^*$ . It follows  $\phi \in \mathcal{O}_M^*$ .  $\square$ 

## Chapter 4

## Integral transforms

This chapter, which results are obtained in cooperation with prof. Pilipović, is devoted to the investigations of various integral transforms on the spaces  $\mathcal{S}^*$  and  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ . One of such integral transform is already studied in Chapter 3.. Namely, the Hermite expansion of elements of the basic spaces and their duals, can be regarded as a generalized integral transform in Zemanian's sense ([68, Chapter IX]). We use results about Hermite expansion to obtain results for the Fourier and Laplace transform, following an analogous idea to the Pilipović's one, for the space  $\Sigma_{\alpha}'$ . Moreover, we characterize  $\mathcal{S}^*$  by the Fourier transform, Wigner distribution and Bargmann transform, and obtain analogous results to Jenssen and von Eijndhoven's for Gelfand-Shilov space  $W_M^{M^{\times}}$  ([27]). Let us remark once again, that the natures of the spaces  $W_M^{M^{ imes}}$  and  $\mathcal{S}^*$  are different, and therefore our methods are different. In the last section of the chapter we study the Hilbert transform on  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ , which is a generalization of the corresponding one on the space of tempered distributions, defined by Ishikawa ([26]). Structural properties of the basic spaces imply that the Hilbert transform of a tempered ultradistribution is defined uniquely up to an entire function of ultrapolynomial growth.

# 4.1 Fourier Transform and Integral Characterizations

In this section we suppose that the conditions (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3)' are fulfilled.

From Theorem 2.3, Parseval's formula and the property

$$\mathcal{F}(D^{\alpha}\varphi)(\xi) = \xi^{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}\varphi)(\xi), \quad \mathcal{F}(x^{\alpha}\varphi)(\xi) = (-D)^{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}\varphi)(\xi), \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{S},$$
(4.1)

it follows easily that the Fourier transform is an isomorphism of  $\mathcal{S}^*$  onto itself. As usual, we define the Fourier transform of  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$  by

$$\langle \mathcal{F}f, \varphi \rangle = \langle f, \mathcal{F}\varphi \rangle, \quad \varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*.$$

If  $P^*(x, D)$  is an operator defined by (3.1), then from (4.1) and the continuity of  $P^*(x, D)$ , it follows that for each  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^*$ ,

$$\mathcal{F}(P^*(\cdot,D)f(\cdot))(\xi) = P^*(-D,\xi)(\mathcal{F}f)(\xi), \qquad \xi \in \mathbf{R}.$$

In the next theorem we give characterizations of the space  $S^*$ , by the Fourier transform, Wigner distribution and Bargmann transform.

Theorem 4.1 1. [CHARACTERIZATION BASED ON THE FOURIER TRANSFORM] A function  $\varphi$  belongs to  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if it is square integrable and for each (resp. some) h>0,

$$\varphi(\cdot) = \mathcal{O}\left(\exp[-M(h\mid\cdot\mid)]\right) \text{ and } (\mathcal{F}\varphi)\left(\cdot\right) = \mathcal{O}\left(\exp[-M(h\mid\cdot\mid)]\right).$$

2. [CHARACTERIZATION BASED ON THE WIGNER DISTRIBUTION] A function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$  (resp.  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if for each (resp. some)  $\lambda > 0$ 

$$\mathbf{W}(x,y;\varphi) = \mathcal{O}(\exp[-M(\lambda(x^2+y^2)^{1/2})]).$$

3. [CHARACTERIZATION BASED ON BARGMANN TRANSFORM] A function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if for each (resp. some)  $\lambda > 0$  there exists  $\mathcal{C}$ , such that

$$|(\mathbf{A}\varphi)(\zeta)| \leq \mathcal{C} \exp[\frac{1}{2}|\zeta|^2 - M(\lambda|\zeta|)], \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}.$$

*Proof*: Parts 1. and 3. of Theorem 2.3 imply that 1. holds. From this and parts 2. and 4. of Theorem 2.3 and the calculation based on the properties of a function M parts 2. and 3. follow.  $\square$ 

#### 4.2 Laplace transform

In this section we will assume that the conditions (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) are fulfilled. By  $\mathcal{S}_{+}^{\prime*}$  we denote the subspace of  $\mathcal{S}^{\prime*}$ , consisting of elements supported by  $[0,\infty)$ .

Let  $g \in \mathcal{S}_+^{\prime *}$ . For fixed  $\eta > 0$  we define " $g \exp(-\eta \cdot)$ ", as an element of  $\mathcal{S}^{\prime *}$  by

$$\langle g \exp(-y \cdot), \varphi \rangle = \langle g, \theta \exp(-y \cdot)\varphi \rangle, \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{S}^*,$$

where  $\theta$  is an element of  $\mathcal{E}^*$  such that for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\theta(x) = 1$ ,  $x \in (-\varepsilon, \infty)$ ,  $\theta(x) = 0$ ,  $x \in (-\infty, -2\varepsilon)$ . It is easy to see that the definition does not depend on the choice of  $\theta$ . As usual (see for example [62]) we define the Laplace transform of  $g \in \mathcal{S}_+^{\prime *}$  by

$$(\mathcal{L}g)(\zeta) = \mathcal{F}(g\exp(-\eta \cdot))(\xi), \quad \zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbf{C}_+.$$

Clearly, for fixed  $\eta > 0$  it is an element of  $\mathcal{S}'^*$ .

Let

$$G(\zeta) = \langle g, \theta \exp(i\zeta \cdot) \rangle, \quad \zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbf{C}_+,$$
 (4.2)

where  $\theta$  is as above. The function G is holomorphic on  $C_+$  and does not depend on  $\theta$ .

Following an analogous idea as in [47] (see also [64]) one can prove the next assertion.

Theorem 4.2 Let  $g \in \mathcal{S}'^*_+$  and G be defined by (4.2).

1. For every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there are C and k > 0 such that

$$|G(\zeta)| \le \mathcal{C} \exp\left[\varepsilon \eta + \left(M(k|\xi|) + \tilde{M}\left(k|\eta|^{-1}\right)\right)\right], \quad \zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbb{C}_+.$$

2. For fixed  $\eta > 0$ ,  $(\mathcal{L}g)(\xi + i\eta) = G(\xi + i\eta)$ ,  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .

- 3. There is  $G(\cdot + i0) \in S'^*$  such that in the sense of convergence in  $S'^*$   $G(\xi + i\eta) \to G(\xi + i0)$ , as  $\eta \to 0^+$  and  $G(\xi + i0) = (\mathcal{F}g)(\xi)$ ,  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .
- 4. If  $G_k(\zeta) = (\mathcal{L}g_k)(\zeta)$ ,  $\zeta \in C_+$ , k = 1, 2, and  $G_1(\xi + i0) = G_2(\xi + i0)$ ,  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $g_1 = g_2$ .

#### 4.3 Hilbert transform

In order to define the Hilbert transform on  $\mathcal{S}'^*$  we follow Ishikawa's ideas for tempered distributions ([26]), and represent  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) as the projective limit of appropriate spaces  $\mathcal{D}_a^{M_p}$ , a>0 (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ,  $a_p\in\mathcal{R}$ ). But in the contrary to the case of tempered distributions we do not have that  $\mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) is dense in the space  $\mathcal{D}_a^{M_a}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ). We overcome this difficulty by parts 4. and 5. of Theorem 4.8.

Let b > 0 (resp.  $b_p \in \mathcal{R}$ ) be given and let  $P_b$  (resp.  $P_{b_p}$ ) be an entire function such that for some constants L > 0 and C,

$$|P_b(\zeta)| \le \mathcal{C} \exp[M(L|\zeta|)] \left(\text{resp. } |P_{b_p}(\zeta)| \le \mathcal{C} \exp[N_{b_p}(L|\zeta|)]\right), \ \zeta \in \mathbf{C}, \ (4.3)$$

$$\exp[M(b|\zeta|)] \le P_b(\zeta) \left(\text{resp. } \exp[N_{b_p}(|\zeta|)] \le P_{b_p}(\zeta)\right),$$

$$\zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbb{C}, \quad \xi^2 \ge \eta^2.$$
(4.4)

In the case when (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) hold an example of such an entire function is

$$P_b(\zeta) = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{\zeta^2}{b^2 m_{\alpha}^2}) \left( \text{resp. } P_{b_p}(\zeta) = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{\infty} (1 + \frac{\zeta^2}{b_{\alpha}^2 m_{\alpha}^2}) \right), \ \zeta \in \mathbf{C}.$$

From [33, p.91] it follows that this entire function fulfills conditions (4.3) and (4.4) since for  $\zeta = \xi + i\eta \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $\xi^2 \geq \eta^2$ ,

$$\left| \prod_{\alpha=1}^{\infty} \left( 1 + \frac{\zeta^2}{b_{\alpha}^2 m_{\alpha}^2} \right) \right| \ge \sup_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{\beta} \left| 1 + \frac{\zeta^2}{b_{\alpha}^2 m_{\alpha}^2} \right| \ge \sup_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}} \prod_{\alpha=1}^{\beta} \left| \frac{\zeta^2}{b_{\alpha}^2 m_{\alpha}^2} \right| = \exp[2N_{b_p}(|\zeta|)].$$

It follows from (4.3) that  $P_b(D)$  (resp.  $P_{b_p}(D)$ ) is an ultradifferential operator of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ) (see [33, Proposition 4.5.]).

Let us now give the structural characterization of basic spaces adopted for the investigations of the Hilbert transform. Definition 4.3 Let a, b > 0 and  $(a_p), (b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ .  $\mathcal{D}_{a,b}^{M_p}, \mathcal{D}_b^{M_p,a}, \mathcal{D}_{a_p,b_p}^{M_p}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{b_p}^{M_p,a_p}$  are respectively the spaces of smooth functions  $\varphi$  on R such that

$$p_{a,b}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{a^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \| (P_b \varphi)^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty} < \infty,$$

$$q_{a,b}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{a^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \| P_b \varphi^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty} < \infty,$$

$$p_{a_p,b_p}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\| (P_{b_p} \varphi)^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty}}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p) M_{\alpha}} < \infty,$$

$$q_{a_p,b_p}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\| P_{b_p} \varphi^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty}}{(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p) M_{\alpha}} < \infty,$$

equipped respectively with the topologies induced by the norms  $p_{a,b}$ ,  $q_{a,b}$ ,  $p_{a_p,b_p}$  and  $q_{a_p,b_p}$  respectively.

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{D}_a^{M_p} &= \operatorname{projlim}_{b>0} \mathcal{D}_{a,b}^{M_p}, \qquad \mathcal{D}^{M_p,a} = \operatorname{projlim}_{b>0} \mathcal{D}_b^{M_p,a}, \\ \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p} &= \operatorname{projlim}_{(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}_{a_p,b_p}^{M_p}, \qquad \mathcal{D}^{M_p,a_p} = \operatorname{projlim}_{(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}_{b_p}^{M_p,a_p} \end{split}$$

In the sequel we need some estimates of derivatives of  $P_b$  (resp.  $P_{b_p}$ ) and  $1/P_b$  (resp.  $1/P_{b_p}$ ).

Lemma 4.4 If  $P_b$  (resp.  $P_{b_p}$ ) fulfills (4.3) and (4.4) then

1. For every r > 0 there is C, such that

$$|\left(P_{b_p}(\zeta)\right)^{(\gamma)}| \le C \frac{\gamma!}{r^{\gamma}} |P_{b_p/2}(\zeta)|, \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}, \ \gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
 (4.5)

2. There exist r > 0 and C such that

$$\left| \left( \frac{1}{P_{b_p}(\xi)} \right)^{(\gamma)} \right| \le C \frac{\gamma!}{r^{\gamma}} \exp[-N_{2b_p}(|\xi|)], \ \xi \in \mathbf{R}, \ \gamma \in \mathbf{N}_0.$$
 (4.6)

The corresponding inequalities hold for  $P_b$ .

Proof 1. Applying Cauchy's formula and (4.3) one can easily obtain (4.5).

2. Since  $P_{b_p}(0) \neq 0$ , there exist r > 0 and C such that  $|P_{b_p}(\zeta)| \geq C$ , for  $|\zeta| \leq 2r$ . By the Cauchy formula for  $\xi \in \mathbf{R}$  and  $|\xi| \leq r$ ,

$$\left| \left( \frac{1}{P_{b_p}(\xi)} \right)^{(\gamma)} \right| = \left| \frac{\gamma!}{2\pi i} \int_{|\zeta - \xi| = r} \frac{d\zeta}{P_{b_p}(\zeta)(\zeta - \xi)^{\gamma + 1}} \right| \le \frac{\gamma!}{r^{\gamma}}. \tag{4.7}$$

Let  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $|\xi| > r$  and  $K_{\xi}$  be a circle with the radius  $|\xi|/\sqrt{2}$  and the center in  $\xi$ . By applying Cauchy's formula and (4.4) we obtain that for every  $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$|\left(\frac{1}{P_{b_{p}}(\xi)}\right)^{(\gamma)}| = |\frac{\gamma!}{2\pi i} \int_{K_{\xi}} \frac{1}{P_{b_{p}}(\zeta)(\zeta - \xi)^{\gamma + 1}} d\zeta |$$

$$\leq \frac{\gamma! 2^{\gamma/2}}{|\xi|^{\gamma}} \sup_{\Theta \in [0, 2\pi]} \exp[-N_{b_{p}}(|\xi + \frac{|\xi|}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Theta i}|)]$$

$$\leq \frac{\gamma! 2^{\gamma/2}}{r^{\gamma}} \exp[-N_{b_{p}}(||\xi| - \frac{|\xi|}{\sqrt{2}}|)] \leq C \frac{\gamma! 2^{\gamma/2}}{r^{\gamma}} \exp[-N_{2b_{p}}(|\xi|)].$$

This and (4.7) imply (4.6).

Theorem 4.5 If (M.2)' holds then,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)} &= \operatorname{proj} \lim_{a>0} \mathcal{D}_a^{M_p} = \operatorname{proj} \lim_{a>0} \mathcal{D}^{M_p,a}, \\ \\ \mathcal{S}^{\{M_p\}} &= \operatorname{proj} \lim_{(a_p) \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p} = \operatorname{proj} \lim_{(a_p) \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}^{M_p,a_p}. \end{split}$$

*Proof*: We shall prove the assertion in the case  $*=\{M_p\}$  since it is more complicated than the other one and the ideas for both cases are similar.

First we prove that there exists C such that for each  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}$ ,  $\wp_{a_p,b_p}(\varphi) \leq Cq_{a_p,b_p/\sqrt{2}}(\varphi)$ . Condition (M.3)' imply

$$\wp_{a_{p},b_{p}}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha} \left(\prod_{p=1}^{\beta} b_{p}\right) M_{\beta}}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{2^{\beta/2} \|\max(1,|x|^{\beta}) \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha} \left(\prod_{p=1}^{\beta} b_{p}\right) M_{\beta}}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \left(\sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{2^{\beta/2} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} b_{p}\right) M_{\beta}} + \sup_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{2^{\beta/2} \|x^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} b_{p}\right) M_{\alpha} \left(\prod_{p=1}^{\beta} b_{p}\right) M_{\beta}}\right)$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \left( \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p\right) M_{\alpha}} + \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\|\exp[N_{b_p/\sqrt{2}}]\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p\right) M_{\alpha}} \right)$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_0} \frac{\|P_{b_p/\sqrt{2}}\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p\right) M_{\alpha}} = \mathcal{C}q_{a_p,b_p/\sqrt{2}}(\varphi).$$

Estimate (4.3) implies that there exists C such that for each  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}$ ,  $q_{a_p,b_p}(\varphi) \leq C \wp_{a_p,b_p/L}(\varphi)$ ,  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}$ , since

$$q_{a_{p},b_{p}}(\varphi) \leq C \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|N_{b_{p}}(L|x|)\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha}}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \sup_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|\langle x \rangle^{\beta} \varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha} \left(\prod_{p=1}^{\beta} b_{p}/L\right) M_{\beta}} \leq C \wp_{a_{p},b_{p}/L}(\varphi).$$

Let us now prove the equivalence of the families  $\{p_{a_p,b_p};(a_p),(b_p)\in\mathcal{R}\}$  and  $\{q_{a_p,b_p};(a_p),(b_p)\in\mathcal{R}\}$ . From (4.6) it follows

$$p_{a_{p},b_{p}}(\varphi) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|\left(P_{b_{p}}\varphi\right)^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha}}$$

$$= \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \gamma} \|P_{b_{p}}^{(\gamma)}\varphi^{(\alpha-\gamma)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \gamma} \frac{\gamma!}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha-\gamma} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha-\gamma} \left(\prod_{p=1}^{\gamma} a_{p}\right) M_{\gamma} r^{\gamma}} \|P_{b_{p}/2}\varphi^{(\alpha-\gamma)}\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\gamma!}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\gamma} a_{p}/2\right) M_{\gamma}} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{2^{\alpha}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \gamma} \sup_{\alpha-\gamma \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \frac{\|P_{b_{p}/2}\varphi^{(\alpha-\gamma)}\|_{\infty}}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha-\gamma} a_{p}/2\right) M_{\alpha-\gamma}}$$

$$\leq Cq_{a_{p}/2,b_{p}/2}(\varphi).$$

Let  $(a_p)$ ,  $(c_p) \in \mathcal{R}$  and let  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$  be such that  $2b_n > c_n/L$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , where L is the constant from (4.3). This implies

$$\exp[N_{c_p}(L|x|) - N_{2b_p}(|x|)] \le 1, \quad x \in \mathbf{R}.$$

The above inequality, (4.7) and (M.1) imply that there exist C and r > 0 such that for each  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}$ ,

$$q_{a_p,c_p}(\varphi) \le \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_p\right) M_{\alpha}} ||P_{c_p} \varphi^{(\alpha)}||_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha}} \| P_{c_{p}} \left(\frac{P_{b_{p}}}{P_{b_{p}}} \varphi\right)^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha}} \| P_{c_{p}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \gamma} \left(\frac{1}{P_{b_{p}}}\right)^{(\alpha-\gamma)} (P_{b_{p}} \varphi)^{(\gamma)} \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \gamma} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}\right) M_{\alpha}}.$$

$$\cdot \| \exp[N_{c_{p}}(L \mid x \mid)] \frac{(\alpha - \gamma)!}{r^{\alpha - \gamma}} \exp[-N_{2b_{p}}(\mid x \mid)] (P_{b_{p}} \varphi)^{(\gamma)} \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{2^{\alpha}} \sum_{\gamma \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \gamma} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\gamma} a_{p}/2\right) M_{\gamma}} \frac{(\alpha - \gamma)!}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha-\gamma} a_{p}/2\right) M_{\alpha-\gamma} r^{\alpha-\gamma}}.$$

$$\cdot \| \exp[N_{c_{p}}(L \mid x \mid) - N_{2b_{p}}(\mid x \mid)] (P_{b_{p}} \varphi)^{(\gamma)} \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{p=1}^{\alpha} a_{p}/2\right) M_{\alpha}} \| (P_{b_{p}} \varphi)^{(\alpha)} \|_{\infty} = p_{a_{p}/2, b_{p}}(\varphi). \square$$

Remark From the preceding proof it follows that for given a>0 (resp.  $(a_p)\in\mathcal{R}$ ) there exists b>0 (resp.  $(b_p)\in\mathcal{R}$ ) such that a< b (resp.  $(a_p)\preceq(b_p)$ ), such that  $\mathcal{D}_b^{M_p}\subset\mathcal{D}_a^{M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{b_p}^{M_p}\subset\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ) and the inclusion mapping is continuous.

**Definition 4.6** The Hilbert transform  $\mathcal{H}_a$  (resp.  $\mathcal{H}_{a_p}$ ), on the space  $\mathcal{D}_a^{M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ) is defined by

$$(\mathcal{H}_{a}\varphi)(x) = \frac{1}{P_{a}(x)} PV \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{P_{a}(x-t)\varphi(x-t)}{t} dt, \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{a}^{M_{p}}$$

$$\left(resp. \ (\mathcal{H}_{a_{p}}\varphi)(x) = \frac{1}{P_{a_{p}}(x)} PV \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{P_{a_{p}}(x-t)\varphi(x-t)}{t} dt, \quad \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{a_{p}}^{M_{p}}\right). \tag{4.8}$$

Proposition 4.7 1.  $\mathcal{H}_a$  (resp.  $\mathcal{H}_{a_p}$ ) is a linear continuous mapping from  $\mathcal{D}_a^{M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ) onto itself.

2. 
$$\mathcal{H}_a\mathcal{H}_a\varphi = -\varphi$$
,  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_a^{M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{H}_{a_p}\mathcal{H}_{a_p}\varphi = -\varphi$ ,  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ).

Proof: The proof is given only in the case  $*=\{M_p\}$ , since the case  $*=(M_p)$  is analogous. The linearity and continuity of  $\mathcal{H}_{a_p}$  follows immediately from the fact that it is defined as the composition of the following linear and continuous mappings

$$T_{a_p}: \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p} \to \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}}, \quad \varphi \mapsto P_{a_p} \varphi,$$

$$\mathcal{H}: \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}} \to \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}}, \quad \varphi \mapsto (\mathcal{H}\varphi)(\cdot) = PV \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\varphi(t)}{t - \cdot},$$

$$T_{a_p}^{-1}: \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}} \to \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}, \quad \varphi \mapsto \varphi/P_{a_p},$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  denotes the Hilbert transform defined on  $\mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}}$ . Note that in [46] the Hilbert transform is considered only on  $\mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{(M_p)}$  i. e. in the Beurling case but in can be examined in a similar way in the Roumieu case.

From the definition  $\mathcal{H}_{a_p}$  and the properties of the Hilbert transform on  $\mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}}$   $(\mathcal{H}\mathcal{H}\phi = -\phi, \phi \in \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\{M_p\}})$  it follows that for each  $a_p \in \mathcal{R}$  and each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ 

$$\mathcal{H}_{a_p}(\mathcal{H}_{a_p}\varphi) = T_{a_p}^{-1}(\mathcal{H}T_{a_p}(T_{a_p}^{-1}(\mathcal{H}(T_{a_p}\varphi)))) = T_{a_p}^{-1}(\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{H}(T_{a_p}\varphi)))$$
$$= T_a^{-1}(-T_a\varphi) = -\varphi.$$

This completes the proof. □

The generalized Hilbert transform  $H_a$  (resp.  $H_{a_p}$ ) on the dual space  $\mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{\prime M_p}$ ) is defined by

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathbf{H}_a f, \varphi \rangle &= - \langle f, \mathcal{H}_a \varphi \rangle, \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_a^{M_p} \\ \Big( \text{resp. } \langle \mathbf{H}_{a_p} f, \varphi \rangle &= - \langle f, \mathcal{H}_{a_p} \varphi \rangle, \qquad \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p} \Big). \end{split}$$

Theorem 4.8 1.  $H_a$  (resp.  $H_{a_p}$ ) is a linear continuous mapping of  $\mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{\prime M_p}$ ) onto itself.

2. 
$$\mathbf{H}_a(\mathbf{H}_a f) = -f$$
 (resp.  $\mathbf{H}_{a_p}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p} f) = -f$ ), for each  $f \in \mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$  (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{\prime M_p}$ ).

3. Let 
$$f \in \mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$$
 (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$ ). Then

$$\langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_a f), \varphi \rangle = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} -i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle, & \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, & \operatorname{supp} \ \varphi \subset (0, \infty); \\ \\ i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle, & \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, & \operatorname{supp} \ \varphi \subset (-\infty, 0). \end{array} \right.$$

Let 
$$f \in \mathcal{D}_a$$
 (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{D}_a$ ). Then
$$\langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_a f), \varphi \rangle = \begin{cases} -i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle, & \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, & \operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset (0, \infty); \\ i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle, & \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, & \operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset (-\infty, 0). \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \operatorname{resp.} & \langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p} f), \varphi \rangle = \begin{cases} -i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle, & \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}, & \operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset (0, \infty); \\ i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle, & \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}, & \operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset (-\infty, 0). \end{cases}$$

- 4. Let (M.2) and (M.3) be fulfilled. Assume that  $f \in \mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$  , (resp.  $f \in \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{\prime M_p}$ ),  $0 < a < b \ (resp. \ (a_p) \leq (b_p))$  and that  $b \ (resp. \ b_p)$  is chosen so that  $f|_{\mathcal{D}_b^{M_p}} \in \mathcal{D}_b^{\prime M_p}$  (resp.  $f|_{\mathcal{D}_b^{M_p}} \in \mathcal{D}_{b_p}^{\prime M_p}$ ) (see the remark after Theorem 4.5). The difference  $(\mathbf{H}_a f - \mathbf{H}_b f)|_{\mathcal{D}_b^{M_p}}$  (resp.  $(\mathbf{H}_{a_p} f - \mathbf{H}_{b_p} f)|_{\mathcal{D}_b^{M_p}}$ ) is an ultrapolynomial of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ).
- 5. If  $f,g \in \mathcal{D}_a^{\prime M_p}$  and  $f|_{\mathcal{D}(M_p)} = g|_{\mathcal{D}(M_p)}$  (resp.  $f,g \in \mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{\prime M_p}$  and  $f|_{\mathcal{D}(M_p)} =$  $g|_{\mathcal{D}(M_p)}$ ) then the difference  $H_af - H_ag$  (resp.  $H_{a_p}f - H_{a_p}g$ ) is an ultrapolynomial of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ).

*Proof:* We will prove the assertion only in the case  $* = \{M_p\}$ . Parts 1. and 2. follows immediately from the previous theorem. Let us prove part 3. Let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}$  be such that  $supp \varphi \subset (0,\infty)$ . From the property of the Fourier and Hilbert transforms of an  $f \in L^2$ 

$$\mathcal{F}(Hf)(x) = -i \, sgn \, (x)(\mathcal{F}f)(x), \qquad x \in \mathbf{R},$$

it follows

$$\langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p} f), \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{H}_{a_p} f, \mathcal{F} \varphi \rangle = \langle f, T_{a_p}^{-1} \mathcal{H} T_{a_p} \mathcal{F} \varphi \rangle$$

$$= \langle f, T_{a_p}^{-1} \mathcal{H} \mathcal{F}(P_{a_p}(D) \varphi) \rangle = \langle f, T_{a_p}^{-1} \mathcal{F}(-i(P_{a_p}(D) \varphi)) \rangle$$

$$= -i \langle f, T_{a_p}^{-1} T_{a_p} \mathcal{F} \varphi \rangle = -i \langle f, \mathcal{F} \varphi \rangle = -i \langle \mathcal{F} f, \varphi \rangle.$$

In a similar way we can prove part 3. in the case  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}$  and  $supp \varphi \subset$  $(-\infty,0)$ .

Let us prove part 4.. For any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  with  $supp \varphi \subset (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_{p}}f - \mathbf{H}_{b_{p}}f), \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_{p}}f), \varphi \rangle - \langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{b_{p}}f), \varphi \rangle$$

$$= -i\langle \mathcal{F}f, \varphi \rangle - (-i)\langle \mathcal{F}f, \varphi \rangle = 0.$$

Analogously, we have

$$\langle \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p}f - \mathbf{H}_{b_p}f), \varphi \rangle = 0, \ \varphi \in \mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}, \ supp \varphi \subset (-\infty, 0).$$

Therefore,  $supp \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p}f - \mathbf{H}_{b_p}f) \subset \{0\}$ . [34, Theorem 3.1] implies the existence of an ultradifferential operator P(D), such that

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p}f - \mathbf{H}_{b_p}f) = P(D)\delta. \tag{4.9}$$

Applying the inverse Fourier transform on (4.9) we get

$$(\mathbf{H}_{a_p}f - \mathbf{H}_{b_p}f) = P(x), \ x \in \mathbf{R},$$

i.e. 4. holds.

Assertion 5. follows from the fact that

$$supp \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{H}_{a_p}f - \mathbf{H}_{a_p}g) \subset \{0\},\$$

which can be proved analogously as part 4.. □

Using the fact that for each  $f \in \mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}'^{\{M_p\}}$ ) there is a > 0 (resp.  $a_p \in \mathcal{R}$ ) such that f has a linear and continuous extension F on  $\mathcal{D}_a^{M_p}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{a_p}^{M_p}$ ), we define the Hilbert transform  $\mathbf{H}^{(M_a)}f$  (resp.  $\mathbf{H}^{\{M_a\}}f$ ) of f by

$$\mathbf{H}^{(M_p)}f = \mathbf{H}_a F$$
, (resp.  $\mathbf{H}^{\{M_p\}}f = \mathbf{H}_{a_p}F$ ).

It is determined uniquely up to entire function of ultrapolynomial growth.

## Chapter 5

## Convolution of Ultradistributions

There are several definitions of convolutions in the space of Schwartz's distributions and in its proper subspaces. They are analyzed in many books and papers ([56], [62], [12], [59], [1], [16], [23], [24], [70], [63], [30], [65], [61]). In the theory of ultradistributions mainly the convolution of two ultradistributions one of which has a compact support was considered. On the base of such consideration, Braun, Meise, Taylor, Voigt and their collaborators (see [42] and references there) deeply studied convolution equations in ultradistribution spaces. A convolution of two arbitrary Beurling type ultradistributions was investigated in [49] where it was proved the equivalence of so-called Schwartz's and Vladimirov's definitions of convolution for ultradistributions. In the chapter, which results are obtained in cooperation with prof. Pilipović and prof. Kamiński, we investigate in details the equivalence of several definitions of the convolution of Beurling type ultradistributions. Also, we introduce several definitions of ultratempered convolutions of Beurling type ultradistributions and prove their equivalence. The fact that ultradistributions are infinite sums of derivatives of appropriate continuous functions on bounded open sets makes the problem of equivalence of various definitions of convolutions non-trivial. As in the distribution theory the space of integrable ultradistributions is crucial for definitions of convolutions. Since in the Roumieu case the structure of such space is difficult and not-known enough, in the Roumieu case we have only some partial results concerning the convolution. Therefore, in the chapter we will consider only the Beurling case.

Let us first introduce the notations which will be used only in this chapter. All the spaces and functions which are mentioned in the chapter are defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , with the exception of those with specially denoted domain The letter d denotes a fixed element of  $\mathbb{N}$ . The constant function equal to 1 on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (resp.  $\mathbb{R}^{2d}$ ) is denoted by  $1_x$  (resp.  $1_{x,y}$ ). If  $\vartheta$  is a function,  $\vartheta^{\triangle}$  denotes  $\vartheta(x+y)$ , Let

$$P_r(\zeta) = (1 + \zeta_1^2 + \dots + \zeta_d^2) \prod_{p \in \mathbb{N}} \left( 1 + \frac{\zeta_1^2 + \dots + \zeta_d^2}{r^2 m_p^2} \right), \quad \zeta = (\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_d) \in \mathbb{C}^d,$$
(5.1)

where r is a positive constant. Conditions (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) imply that  $P_r$  is an ultradifferential operator of the class  $(M_p)$  (see [33]).

We introduce the classes of sequences (see [16], [30] and [49]) as follows. A sequence  $(\eta_j)$  of elements of  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  is an approximate unit if it converges to  $1_x$  in  $\mathcal{E}^{(M_p)}$  and if there exist m and  $\mathcal{C}$ , such that for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \left( \frac{m^{|\alpha|}}{M_{|\alpha|}} \parallel \eta_j^{(\alpha)} \parallel_{\infty} \right) < \mathcal{C},$$

where  $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \ldots + \alpha_d$  for  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$ . If moreover, for every compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  there exists  $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that

$$\eta_j(x,y) = 1, \ (x,y) \in K, \ j \ge j_0.$$

 $(\eta_j)$  will be called a strong approximate unit A sequence  $\eta_j$  of elements of  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^d)$  is a special unit sequence if it is of the form  $\eta_j(x_1,\ldots,x_d)=\sum_{i=j}^p \eta(x_1/j,\ldots x_d/j),\ j\in \mathbf{N}_0$ , where  $\eta\in\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\eta=1$  in some neighborhood of zero in  $\mathbf{R}^d$ .

Following [23] we say that the space of ultradistributions of class  $(M_p)$  is permitted if for any  $f \in F$ ,  $(\rho_k \cdot f) * \delta_k$  and  $\rho_k \cdot (f * \delta_k)$  converge to f as  $k \to \infty$ , where  $\rho_k$  is an approximate unit and  $\delta_k$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,  $\delta_k \geq 0$ ,  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} \delta_k = 1$  and supp  $\delta_k \subset [-\alpha_k, \alpha_k]$ , where  $\alpha_k \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . A space

F of ultradistributions has the property  $(C_{M_p})$  (see [49]) if and only if for each barrelled space E and each linear mapping  $L: E \to F$  holds that L is continuous mapping if it is continuous as a mapping  $E \to \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$ . Examples of the spaces which posses the property  $(C_{M_p})$  are  $L^1$  and  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}_{L^1}$  ([49]).

#### 5.1 On the Definition of Convolution

In this section we show the equivalence of various definitions of convolutions of elements of  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_P)}$ . The form of the main theorem is similar to the corresponding one given by Shiraishi ([59]) for distributions. But in the proof of it some nontrivial problems appear, for example the Leibniz formula could not be used since ultradistributions are infinite sums of derivatives (i. e. ultraderivatives) of corresponding continuous functions on a bounded open set.

Following the approach of Schwartz ([57]), Vladimirov ([62]) and Chevalley ([12]) we have the next definitions of convolutions of  $S, T \in \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$ .

Definition 5.1 ([49]) The convolution  $S *^{5.1} T \in \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  is defined by

$$\langle S *^{5.1} T, \vartheta \rangle = \langle (S_x \otimes T_y)\vartheta(x+y), 1_{x,y} \rangle, \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \quad \text{if}$$

$$for \ each \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \quad (S_x \otimes T_y)\vartheta^{\triangle} \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^{2d}). \tag{5.2}$$

Definition 5.2 ([49]) The convolution  $S *^{5.2} T$  is defined by

$$\langle S *^{5.2} T, \vartheta \rangle = \lim_{j \to \infty} \langle S_x \otimes T_y, \eta_j(x, y) \vartheta(x + y) \rangle, \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \quad \text{if}$$

for every 
$$\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$$
 and every strong approximate unit  $(\eta_j)$   
the sequence  $(\langle S_x \otimes T_y, \eta_j(x, y)\vartheta(x + y)\rangle)_j$   
converges to a constant.  $(5.3)$ 

Definition 5.3 The convolution S \* 5.3 T is defined by

$$\langle S *^{5.3} T, \vartheta \rangle = \lim_{i \to \infty} \langle S_x \otimes T_y, \eta_i(x, y) \vartheta(x + y) \rangle, \quad \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \quad \text{if}$$

for every 
$$\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$$
 and every special unit sequence  $(\eta_j)$ ,  
the sequence  $(\langle S_x \otimes T_y, \eta_j(x, y)\vartheta(x + y)\rangle)_j$  (5.4)  
converges to a constant.

Definition 5.4 The convolution  $S *^{5.4} T$  is defined by

$$\langle S *^{5.4} T, \vartheta \rangle = \langle S(\tilde{T} * \vartheta), 1_x \rangle, \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \quad \text{if}$$

$$\text{for each } \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \quad S(\tilde{T} * \vartheta) \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}. \tag{5.5}$$

Definition 5.5 The convolution  $S *^{5.5} T$  is defined by

$$\langle S *^{5.5} T, \vartheta \rangle = \langle (\check{S} * \vartheta) T, 1_x \rangle, \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \ if$$

$$for \ each \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}, \ (\check{S} * \vartheta) T \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime *}. \tag{5.6}$$

Definition 5.6 The convolution S \* 5.6 T is defined by

$$\langle (S *^{5.6} T) * \vartheta, \psi \rangle = \langle (S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi), 1_x \rangle, \quad \text{if}$$

$$\text{for each } \vartheta, \psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \quad (S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in L^1. \tag{5.7}$$

Note, similarly as in the distribution theory one can prove that the mapping  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \to \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$ ,  $\vartheta \mapsto A_{\vartheta}$ , where

$$\langle A_{\vartheta}, \psi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\check{S} * \vartheta)(x) (\check{T} * \psi)(x) dx, \quad \psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)},$$

is a continuous linear and translation invariant mapping from  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  into  $\mathcal{E}^{(M_p)}$ . This implies that there exist a unique ultradistribution G such that  $G * \vartheta = A_{\vartheta}, \ \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ . So  $S *^{5.6}T = G$ .

Definition 5.7 The convolutions  $S *^{5.7}T$ ,  $S *^{5.7'}T$ ,  $S *^{5.7''}T$  are defined by

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} (\eta_j S) * T, \tag{5.8}$$

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} S(\tilde{\eta}_j * T), \tag{5.9}$$

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} (\eta_j S)(\tilde{\eta}_j * T), \tag{5.10}$$

respectively, if the limits (5.8), (5.9) and (5.10) respectively exist in  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  for any strong approximate units  $(\eta_j)$ ,  $(\tilde{\eta}_j)$ .

Definition 5.8 The convolutions  $S *^{5.8}T$ ,  $S *^{5.8'}T$ ,  $S *^{5.8''}T$  are defined by

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} (\eta_j S) * T, \tag{5.11}$$

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} S(\tilde{\eta}_j * T), \tag{5.12}$$

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} (\eta_j S)(\tilde{\eta}_j * T), \tag{5.13}$$

respectively, if the limits (5.11), (5.12) and (5.13) exist in  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$ , respectively, for any special unit sequences  $(\eta_j)$ ,  $(\tilde{\eta}_j)$ .

In [49] is proved that the definitions 5.1 and 5.2 are equivalent and that they imply definitions 5.4 and 5.5, and question whether all these definitions are equivalent was left as an open problem. In the distribution theory the equivalence of definitions which are analogous to definitions 5.1, 5.4, 5.5 and 5.6 was proved by Shiraishi ([59]), Dierolf and Voigt ([16]) proved that the definitions given by Schwartz and Vladimirov are equivalent, and Kaminski [31] made an analysis of all the definitions of convolution in relation to various sequences which approximate the unit (see also [65]).

We will need the following assertions

1

Lemma 5.9 ([33], [13]) Let K be a compact neighborhood of zero, and r > 0. There is  $u \in \mathcal{D}_{K,r/2}^{M_p}$  and  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_{K}^{(M_p)}$  such that

$$P_r(D)u = \delta + \xi. \tag{5.14}$$

Lemma 5.10 ([49]) If  $f,g \in \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  are convolvable in the sense of one of the equivalent definitions 5.1 and 5.2 and P(D) is an ultradifferential operator of class  $(M_p)$  then

$$P(D)(g*f) = g*P(D)f.$$

The main assertion of the section the following.

Theorem 5.11 All above definitions of convolutions of ultradistributions are equivalent, i. e. they define the same ultradistribution.

Proof: We will first prove that conditions (5.2), (5.5), (5.6) and (5.7) are equivalent.

 $(5.7) \Rightarrow (5.2)$ . Let  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  be fixed. The mapping  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \to \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  defined by,

$$\psi \mapsto (S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi), \tag{5.15}$$

is continuous. Since  $L^1$  has property  $(C_{M_p})$  and  $(S*\vartheta)(\check{T}*\psi)$  belongs to  $L^1$ , it follows that the mapping  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \to L^1$  defined by (5.15) is continuous. This implies the continuity of the mapping

$$\mathbb{R}^d \to L^1, \quad y \mapsto (S * \vartheta)(T * \psi(\cdot - y)),$$

where  $\psi, \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  are fixed. Because of that, for fixed  $\phi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$y \mapsto \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} |\phi(y)(S * \vartheta)(\cdot)(\check{T} * \psi)(\cdot - y)| dy, \quad y \in \mathbf{R}^d,$$

belongs to  $L^1$ . The Fubini theorem implies that for each  $\vartheta, \psi, \phi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ , the function

$$(x,y) \mapsto (S*\vartheta)(x)(\check{T}*\psi)(x-y), \; (x,y) \in \mathbf{R}^{2d},$$

is from  $L^1(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$ . By the change of variables it follows that for each  $\vartheta, \psi, \phi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,  $(S * \vartheta)_x (T * \check{\psi})_y \psi^{\triangle}$  is from  $L^1(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$ . Assume that Q and K are compact neighborhoods of zero in  $\mathbf{R}^d$  and that Q is a subset of the interior of K. The mapping

$$\mathcal{D}_{K}^{(M_{p})} \times \mathcal{D}_{K}^{(M_{p})} \times \mathcal{D}_{K}^{(M_{p})} \to L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}), \ (\vartheta, \psi, \phi) \mapsto ((S * \vartheta)_{x} \otimes (T * \check{\psi})_{y}) \phi^{\triangle},$$

is separately continuous. Since  $\mathcal{D}_K^{(M_p)}$  is a Fréchet space, the above mapping is continuous. Thus, for some r > 0 and C,

$$\| (S * \vartheta)_x \otimes (T * \check{\psi})_y \phi^{\triangle} \|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})}$$

$$\tag{5.16}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C}\left(\parallel\vartheta\parallel_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r_p}^{(M_p)}}+\parallel\psi\parallel_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r_p}^{(M_p)}}+\parallel\phi\parallel_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r_p}^{(M_p)}}\right),\ \vartheta,\phi,\psi\in\mathcal{D}_K^{(M_p)}.$$

Let  $\vartheta, \phi, \psi \in \mathcal{D}_{Q,r}^{M_p}$  and let  $(\vartheta_n)$ ,  $(\psi_n)$  and  $(\phi_n)$  be sequences of elements of  $\mathcal{D}_K^{(M_p)}$  such that  $(\vartheta_n) \to \vartheta$ ,  $(\psi_n) \to \psi$ ,  $(\phi_n) \to \phi$  in  $\mathcal{D}_{Q,r}^{M_p}$ ; since  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  is permitted such sequences exist. (5.16) implies

$$\|((S*\vartheta_n)_x\otimes (T*\check{\psi_n})_y)\phi_n^{\Delta}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C}\left(\left\|\right.\vartheta_{n}\left.\right\|_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r}^{M_{p}}}+\left\|\right.\psi_{n}\left.\right\|_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r}^{M_{p}}}+\left\|\right.\phi_{n}\left.\right\|_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r}^{M_{p}}}\right).$$

The sequence  $(((S * \vartheta_n)_x \otimes (T * \check{\psi}_n)_y)\phi_n^{\triangle})_n$ , converges in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ . Also it converges to  $((S * \vartheta)_x \otimes (T * \check{\psi})_y)\phi^{\triangle}$  in  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  ([33]). Therefore

$$\| ((S * \vartheta)_{x}(T * \check{\psi})_{y})\phi^{\triangle} \|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \left( \| \vartheta \|_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r}^{M_{p}}} + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r}^{M_{p}}} + \| \phi \|_{\mathcal{D}_{K,r}^{M_{p}}} \right)$$

$$= \mathcal{C} \left( \| \vartheta \|_{\mathcal{D}_{Q,r}^{M_{p}}} + \| \phi \|_{\mathcal{D}_{Q,r}^{M_{p}}} + \| \psi \|_{\mathcal{D}_{Q,r}^{M_{p}}} \right) < \infty.$$

$$(5.17)$$

Lemma 5.9 implies that there exist  $u \in \mathcal{D}_{Q,\tau}^{M_p}$  and  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}_Q^{(M_p)}$  such that

$$\delta = P_{2\tau}(D)u + \xi. \tag{5.18}$$

Thus, for each  $\phi \in \mathcal{D}_K^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$(S_{x} \otimes T_{y})\phi^{\triangle} = ((S * P_{2\tau}(D)u + S * \xi)_{x} \otimes (T * P_{2\tau}(D)u + T * \xi)_{y})\phi^{\triangle}$$

$$= ((S * P_{2\tau}(D)u)_{x} \otimes (T * P_{2\tau}(D)u)_{y})\phi^{\triangle} +$$

$$+ ((S * \xi)_{x} \otimes (T * P_{2\tau}(D)u)_{y})\phi^{\triangle} +$$

$$+ ((S * P_{2\tau}(D)u)_{x} \otimes (T * \xi)_{y})\phi^{\triangle} + ((S * \xi)_{x} \otimes (T * \xi)_{y})\phi^{\triangle}.$$
(5.19)

From (5.17) it follows that  $((S*u)_x \otimes (T*u)_y)\phi^{\triangle}$ ,  $((S*\xi)_x \otimes (T*u)_y)\phi^{\triangle}$ ,  $((S*u)_x \otimes (T*\xi)_y)\phi^{\triangle}$  and  $((S*\xi)_x \otimes (T*\xi)_y\phi^{\triangle})$  belong to  $L^1$ . Let us prove that  $((S*P_{2r}(D)u)_x \otimes (T*P_{2r}(D)u)_y)\phi^{\triangle}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$ , which imply that all the terms in (5.19) are from  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  This imply (5.7)  $\Rightarrow$  (5.2). Applying Lemma 5.10 we obtain

$$((S * P_{2r}(D)u)_x \otimes (T * P_{2r}(D)u)_y) \phi^{\triangle}$$

$$= (P_{2r}(D_x)P_{2r}(D_y)(S * u)_x \otimes (T * u)_y) \phi^{\triangle}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha} \sum_{\beta} a_{\alpha} a_{\beta} \sum_{i \leq \alpha} \sum_{j \leq \beta} (-1)^{i+j} {\alpha \choose i} {\beta \choose j}.$$

$$\cdot \partial_x^{\alpha-i} \partial_y^{\beta-j} \left( ((S * u)_x \otimes (T * u)_y)(\phi^{(i+j)})^{\triangle} \right).$$

$$(5.20)$$

Therefore, for each  $w \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$ ,

$$\langle ((S * P_{2r}(D)u)_x \otimes (T * P_{2r}(D)u)_y) \phi^{\triangle}, w(x,y) \rangle$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha} \sum_{\beta} a_{\alpha} a_{\beta} \sum_{i \leq \alpha} \sum_{j \leq \beta} (-1)^{i+j} {\alpha \choose i} {\beta \choose j} \cdot \langle ((S * u)_x \otimes (T * u)_y) (\phi^{(i+j)})^{\triangle}, \ w^{(\alpha - i, \beta - j)} \rangle.$$

Since the mapping

$$\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \longrightarrow L^1(\mathbf{R}^{2d}) \quad \phi \mapsto (S * \vartheta)_x \otimes (T * \check{\psi})_y \phi^{\triangle},$$

where  $\psi, \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  are fixed, is continuous and  $\{\phi^{(\gamma)}/M_{|\gamma|}; \gamma \in \mathbb{N}^d\}$  is a bounded set in  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ , the set

$$\{((S * \vartheta)_x \otimes (T * \dot{\psi})_y)(\phi^{(\gamma)})^{\triangle}/M_{|\gamma|}; \gamma \in \mathbb{N}^d\}$$

is bounded in  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ . The inequality  $M_pM_q \leq M_{p+q}$ ,  $p,q \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , which follows from (M.1), implies that there exist C and h > 0 such that for each  $i, j \in \mathbb{N}^d$ ,

$$|\langle ((S*u)_x \otimes (T*u)_y) \frac{(\phi^{(i+j)})^{\triangle}}{M_{|i|}M_{|j|}}, \ \nu(x,y) \rangle| \leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\omega \in \mathbf{N}^{2d}} \frac{h^{|\omega|}}{M_{|\omega|}} \parallel \nu^{(\omega)} \parallel_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^{2d})}.$$

Put  $\omega = (\omega_1, \omega_2)$ ,  $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \mathbf{N}_0^d$ . From (M.1), (M.2) and (5.20) it follows

$$\begin{split} & |\langle ((S*P_{2r}(D)u)_x \otimes (T*P_{2r}(D)u)_y) \phi^{\triangle}, \nu) \rangle| \\ & \leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}^d} \sum_{\beta \in \mathbf{N}^d} \sum_{i \leq \alpha} \sum_{j \leq \beta} \binom{\alpha}{i} \binom{\beta}{j} a_{\alpha} a_{\beta} M_{|i|} M_{|j|} \\ & \cdot \sum_{\substack{\omega_1 \in \mathbf{N}^d \\ \omega_2 \in \mathbf{N}^d}} \frac{h^{|\omega_1| + |\omega_2|}}{M_{|\omega_1| + |\omega_2|}} || \nu^{(\alpha - i + \omega_1, \beta - j + \omega_2)} ||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^{2d})} \\ & \leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}^d} \sum_{\beta \in \mathbf{N}^d} \sum_{i \leq \alpha} \sum_{j \leq \beta} \sum_{\substack{\omega_1 \in \mathbf{N}^d \\ \omega_2 \in \mathbf{N}^d}} \binom{\alpha}{i} \binom{\beta}{j} \frac{L^{|\alpha| + |\beta|}}{M_{|\alpha|} M_{|\beta|}} \\ & \cdot M_{|i|} M_{|j|} \frac{h^{|\omega_1| + |\omega_2|}}{M_{|\alpha|} M_{|\alpha|}} || \nu^{(\alpha - i + \omega_1, \beta - j + \omega_2)} ||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^{2d})} \end{split}$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}^d} \sum_{\beta \in \mathbf{N}^d} \sum_{i \leq \alpha} \sum_{j \leq \beta} \sum_{\substack{\omega_1 \in \mathbf{N}^d \\ \omega_2 \in \mathbf{N}^d}} \binom{\alpha}{i} \binom{\beta}{j} L^{|\alpha| + |\beta|} h^{|\omega_1| + |\omega_2|}.$$

$$\cdot \frac{H^{|\alpha|+|\omega_1|+|\beta|+|\omega_2|}}{M_{|\alpha|-|i|+|\omega_1|+|\beta|-|j|+|\omega_2|}} \parallel \nu^{(\alpha-i+\omega_1,\beta-j+\omega_2)} \parallel_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})}$$

$$\leq C \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}^d} \sum_{i \leq \alpha} \sum_{j \leq \beta} \sum_{\substack{\omega_1 \in \mathbb{N}^d \\ \omega_2 \in \mathbb{N}^d}} \binom{\alpha}{i} \binom{\beta}{j} \frac{1}{4^{|\alpha| + |\beta| + |\omega_1| + |\omega_2|}} \cdot \sum_{\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^{2d}} \frac{((1+L)(1+h)(1+4h))^{|\gamma|}}{M_{|\gamma|}} \parallel \nu^{(\gamma)} \parallel_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})}.$$

This implies that  $((S * P_r(D)u)_x \otimes (T * P_r(D)u)_y)\phi^{\triangle}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$ . Implications (5.2)  $\Rightarrow$  (5.5) and (5.2)  $\Rightarrow$  (5.6) were proved in [49, Proposition 6.].

Let us prove (5.5)  $\Rightarrow$  (5.7). The implication (5.6)  $\Rightarrow$  (5.7) can be proved analogously. The mappings

$$\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}_{L^1}, \ \psi \mapsto S(\check{T} * \psi),$$

$$\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}_{L^1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}_{L^1}, \ (y, U) \mapsto U(\cdot - y),$$

are continuous. This implies that for every  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  the mapping

$$\mathbb{R}^d \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}, \ y \mapsto (S(\cdot - y))(\check{T} * \psi)$$

is continuous. Therefore (see [8]),

$$\int \vartheta(y)(S(\cdot - y))(\check{T} * \psi)(\cdot)dy \in \mathcal{D}_{L^{1}}^{\prime(M_{p})}, \text{ for each } \vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_{p})},$$

where the above integral is defined by

$$\langle \int \vartheta(y)(S(\cdot - y))(\check{T} * \psi)(\cdot)dy, \omega \rangle$$

$$= \int \langle \vartheta(y)(S(\cdot - y))(\check{T} * \psi)(\cdot), \omega(y) \rangle dy, \quad \omega \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}.$$

For any  $\phi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  there holds

$$\begin{split} \langle \int \vartheta(y) (S(x-y)) (\check{T} * \psi) (x) dy, \, \phi(x) \rangle \\ &= \int \vartheta(y) \langle (S(x-y)) (\check{T} * \psi) (x), \, \phi(x) \rangle dy \\ &= \langle \vartheta(y) \langle S(x-y), \, (\check{T} * \psi) \phi(x) \rangle dy = \langle \int \vartheta(y) S(x-y) dy, \, (\check{T} * \psi) (x) \phi(x) \rangle \\ &= \langle (S * \vartheta), \, (\check{T} * \psi) \phi \rangle = \langle (S * \vartheta) (\check{T} * \psi), \, \phi \rangle. \end{split}$$

This yields that  $(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$ , for each  $\vartheta, \psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and [50, Theorem 3.] implies that  $((S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi)) * \phi \in L^1$ , for each  $\phi, \vartheta, \psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ . According to Lemma 5.9,

$$(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) = ((S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi)) * P_{\tau}(D)u + ((S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi)) * \xi.$$

The similar arguments as in the proof of the implication (5.7)  $\Rightarrow$  (5.2) imply  $(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in L^1$ , for each  $\vartheta, \psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ .

 $(5.3) \Rightarrow (5.10) \& (5.4) \Rightarrow (5.13)$ . Since for an arbitrary  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$\langle (\eta_j S) * (\tilde{\eta}_j T), \vartheta \rangle = \langle (\eta_j S)_x \otimes (\tilde{\eta}_j T)_y, \vartheta^{\triangle} \rangle$$
$$= \langle (S_x \otimes T_y) \vartheta(x+y), \eta_j(x) \tilde{\eta}_j(y) \rangle,$$

it follows from (5.3) that the limit (5.10) exists for all strong approximate units  $(\eta_j)$ ,  $(\tilde{\eta}_j) \subset \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ , i.e. condition (5.10) is fulfilled and  $S *^{5.10} T = S *^{5.2} T$ . Similarly (5.4) implies (5.13) and  $S *^{5.8"} T = S *^{5.3} T$ .

 $(5.10)\Rightarrow (5.8) \& (5.13) \Rightarrow (5.11)$ . Note that (5.10) implies that for any strong approximate units  $(\eta_i)$ ,  $(\tilde{\eta}_i) \subset \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$\lim_{i,j\to\infty} \langle (\eta_i S) * (\tilde{\eta}_j T), \vartheta \rangle = \langle S *^{5.7''} T, \vartheta \rangle. \tag{5.21}$$

In fact, if (5.8) were not true, there would exist  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,  $\epsilon > 0$  and increasing sequences  $(i_k)$  and  $(j_k)$  of positive integers such that

$$|\langle (\eta_{i_k}) * (\tilde{\eta}_{j_k} T), \vartheta \rangle - \langle S *^{5.7"} T, \vartheta \rangle| > \epsilon.$$

But since  $(\eta_{i_k})$  and  $(\tilde{\eta}_{j_k})$  are again strong approximate units, the above inequality would contradict (5.10). Now (5.21) yields

$$\langle S *^{5.7"} T, \vartheta \rangle = \lim_{i \to \infty} \lim_{j \to \infty} \langle (\eta_j S) * (\tilde{\eta}_j T), \vartheta \rangle = \lim_{i \to \infty} \langle (\eta_i) * T, \vartheta \rangle,$$

which implies (5.8) and the identity  $S *^{5.7"} T = S *^{5.7} T$ . In the same way one proves that (5.13) implies (5.11) and  $S *^{5.8"} T = S *^{5.8} T$ .

The implications  $(5.10) \Rightarrow (5.9)$  and  $(5.13) \Rightarrow (5.12)$  follows from the preceding ones by symmetry.

$$(5.8) \Rightarrow (5.5) \& (5.11) \Rightarrow (5.5)$$
. Since

$$\langle (\eta_i S) * T, \vartheta \rangle = \langle \eta_i S, \vartheta * \check{T} \rangle = \langle S(\check{T} * \vartheta), \eta_i \rangle,$$

we infer from (5.8) (resp. (5.11)) that  $S(\check{T}*\vartheta) \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  for  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ , so (5.5) holds and  $S*^{5.7}T = S*^{5.4}T$  (resp.  $S*^{5.8}T = S*^{5.4}T$ ).

 $(5.9)\Rightarrow (5.6)$  and  $(5.12)\Rightarrow (5.6)$  follows from the preceding ones by symmetry.

One can prove by standard arguments that

$$S *^{5.1} T = S *^{5.2} T = S *^{5.3} T = S *^{5.4} T = S *^{5.5} T = S *^{5.6} T.\square$$

### 5.2 Ultratempered Convolution

In this section we introduce the notion of ultratempered convolution of ultradistribution of Beurling type,  $S'^{(M_p)}$ -convolution, by giving several equivalent definitions of it. In the theory of distributions the equivalence of various definitions of S'-convolution and of  $K'\{M_p\}$ -convolution was proved by Shiraishi ([59]), Dierolf, Vogt ([16]) and Uryga ([61]).

If  $T \in \mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  and  $S \in \mathcal{E}'^{(M_p)}$ , then the convolution T \* S (in the sense of previous section) belongs to  $\mathcal{S}'^{(M_p)}$  and

$$\langle T * S, \vartheta \rangle = \langle T, \check{S} * \vartheta \rangle, \qquad \vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}.$$

This implies that for every ultradifferential operator P(D) of class  $(M_p)$ 

$$\langle P(D)(T*S), \vartheta \rangle = \langle (P(D)T)*S, \vartheta \rangle = \langle T*(P(D)S), \vartheta \rangle, \quad \vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}.$$
(5.22)

In the proof of the main theorem of this section we will use that  $\mathcal{O}_M^{(M_p)}$  is nuclear, which is proved in [51].

Theorem 5.12 Let  $S,T\in \mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$ . The following conditions are equivalent

- 1.  $\vartheta^{\triangle}(S_x \otimes T_y) \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$  for every  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ ;
- 2. For every  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$  and a strong approximate unit  $(\eta_j)$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}^{2d}$ , the sequence  $(\langle (S_x \otimes T_y), \eta_j \vartheta^{\triangle} \rangle)_j$  converges to a constant.
- 3.  $(\check{S}*\vartheta)T \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  for every  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ ;
- 4.  $(\check{T} * \vartheta)S \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  for every  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ ;

5. 
$$(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in L^1$$
 for every  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\psi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ ;

6. 
$$(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in L^1$$
 for every  $\vartheta \in S^{(M_p)}$  and  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ;

7. 
$$(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in L^1$$
 for every  $\vartheta, \psi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ .

Proof: The proof of  $1 \iff 2$  follows directly from [49, Proposition 4].

 $1 \Rightarrow 3$  It is easy to check that  $(\zeta_x \otimes 1_y) \vartheta^{\Delta} \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ , for every  $\zeta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  and  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ . Thus, for an arbitrary strong approximate unit  $(\eta_n)$  and  $\phi \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$\langle (\mathring{S} * \vartheta)T, \eta_n \phi \rangle$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \langle T_x, \langle S_y, (\eta_n \phi)_x \otimes (\eta_m)_y \vartheta^{\triangle} \rangle \rangle$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \langle T_x \otimes S_y, ((\eta_n \phi)_x \otimes (\eta_m)_y) \vartheta^{\triangle} \rangle$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \langle \vartheta^{\triangle}(T_x \otimes S_y), (\eta_n \phi)_x \otimes (\eta_m)_y \rangle$$

$$= \langle \vartheta^{\triangle}(T_x \otimes S_y), (\eta_n \phi)_x \otimes 1_y \rangle.$$

Since the limit

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \langle \vartheta^{\triangle}(T_x \otimes S_y), (\eta_n \phi) \otimes 1 \rangle$$

exists, it follows that  $(\check{S} * \vartheta)T \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$ .

 $4\Rightarrow 5$  The proof is carried out in a similar manner as in the proof of  $(5.5)\Rightarrow (5.7)$  in Theorem 5.11, so it will be omitted.

 $5\Rightarrow 1$  For each  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$ ,

$$\langle ((S * \vartheta)_x \otimes \psi_y) T^{\triangle}, \alpha_x \otimes \beta_y \rangle = \langle (S * \vartheta)(x) \psi(y) T(x+y) \alpha(x) \beta(y), 1_{x,y} \rangle$$
(5.23)  
$$= \langle (S * \vartheta)_x (\check{T} * (\beta \psi))_x \alpha_x, 1 \rangle.$$

The mapping  $\psi \mapsto (S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi)$  from  $S^{(M_p)}$  into  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}$  is continuous. Since  $(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi)$  belongs to  $L^1$ , and  $L^1$  has the property  $(C_{M_p})$  it is continuous as the mapping from  $S^{(M_p)}$  into  $L^1$ . This implies that the composition mapping

$$\mathcal{O}_{M}^{(M_p)} \to \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)} \to L^1 \quad a \mapsto \psi a \mapsto (S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi a)$$

is continuous as well. Therefore  $((S*\vartheta)\otimes\psi)T^{\triangle}$  can be extended on  $\dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}\hat{\otimes}_{\pi}\mathcal{O}_M^{(M_p)}$  as a continuous mapping. Since the space  $\mathcal{O}_M^{(M_p)}$  is nuclear we have

$$\dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)} \hat{\otimes}_{\pi} \mathcal{O}_{M}^{(M_p)} = \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)} \hat{\otimes}_{\epsilon} \mathcal{O}_{M}^{(M_p)} \supset \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^d) \hat{\otimes}_{\epsilon} \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^d) \supset \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^{2d}),$$

where the corresponding inclusion mappings are continuous.

Let  $\phi \in \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$ , and let

$$\phi_n = \sum_{i=1}^{m_n} (\phi_{i,n})_x \otimes (\psi_{i,n})_y \to \phi \quad as \quad in \ \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbf{R}^{2d}), \quad n \to \infty.$$

Clearly  $(\phi_n) \to \phi$  in the sense of topology of  $\dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbb{R}^d) \hat{\otimes}_{\epsilon} \dot{\mathcal{B}}^{(M_p)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and thus

$$\langle ((S * \vartheta)_x \otimes \psi_y) T^{\triangle}, \phi_n \rangle \to \langle ((S * \vartheta)_x \otimes \psi_y) T^{\triangle}, \phi \rangle, \quad n \to \infty.$$

This implies that  $((S*\vartheta)\otimes\psi)T^{\triangle}\in \mathcal{D}_{L^{1}}^{\prime(M_{p})}.$ 

The implications  $1 \Rightarrow 3 \Rightarrow 6 \Rightarrow 1$  can be proved in a similar way as  $5 \Rightarrow 1$ .

The implication  $7 \Rightarrow 5$  is clear.

 $(5)\Rightarrow (7)$ . Let (5) holds. In the same way as in [59] we get that  $(S*\vartheta)(\check{T}*\psi)\in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$ , for each  $\vartheta,\psi\in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ . Analogously as in the proof of  $(5.5)\Rightarrow (5.7)$  in Theorem 5.11, using continuity of the mapping

$$\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)} \to L^1, \quad \phi \mapsto (S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi)\phi$$

one can prove that  $(S * \vartheta)(\check{T} * \psi) \in L^1$ , for each  $\vartheta, \psi \in \mathcal{S}^{(M_p)}$ .  $\square$ 

## Chapter 6

## Hypoellipticity in $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime*}$

The results of Malgrange, Ehrenpreis and Hörmander on the solvability and hypoellipticity of convolution equations in Schwartz's spaces stimulated many mathematicians to study such problems in various subspaces of distributions. We cite here only results of Zielezny ([68], [69]) and Pahk ([46]), since they are connected with our results. In the spaces of ultradistributions convolution equations were studied by Braun, Meise, Taylor, Voigt and their cooperators (see [5], [43] and references there) and by Pilipović ([51]), who started investigations of hypoelliptic convolution equations in ultradistribution spaces similarly as it was done for distribution spaces by Zielezny. In the chapter we study hypoelliptic convolution equations in the Beurling and Roumieu ultradistribution spaces  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime(M_p)}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ,  $q\in[1,\infty]$ . The spaces were investigated by Pilipović, Corănesku, Charamichael, Pathak (see [48], [15], [9], [10]). They are generalizations of the space  $\mathcal{D}'_{L^q}$ . An analogous problem but in the distribution spaces  $\mathcal{D}'_{L^q}$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , was investigated by Phak ([46]). Some Phak's considerations are easily transferred to the problem which we consider, but many problems appeared to be specific for ultradistributions and they have been solved.

In this chapter we suppose that the conditions (M.1), (M.2) and (M.3) hold, and that the Fourier transform of  $\varphi \in L^1$  is given by

$$\mathcal{F}\varphi(\xi) = \hat{\varphi}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \varphi(x) e^{-i\xi x} dx.$$

By  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime\star}$  we denote the space of convolution operators-convolutors of  $\mathcal{S}^{\prime\star}$ , which explicit characterization is given in [50, Proposition 9]. In this chapter we will use only one of the properties of this space, namely, the fact that the Fourier transform is isomorphism of  $\mathcal{O}_M^{\star}$  onto  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime\star}$ ,

We define hypoelliptic convolution operators in  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^{\infty}}$  as follows: An ultradistribution  $S \in \mathcal{D}'^*_{L^1}$  is hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^{\infty}}$  if every solution U in  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^{\infty}}$  of the convolution equation

$$S * U = V \tag{6.1}$$

belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ , when V is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ . In that case equation (6.1) is also called hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}'$ .

The space of convolution operators in  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^\infty}$  is  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^1}$ , therefore hypoelliptic convolution operators in  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^\infty}$  has to be characterized as a subspace of  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^1}$ . Because of lack of differentiability of their Fourier transforms, in this paper we consider only the subclasses of  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^1}$  containing  $\mathcal{O}'^*_c$ , whose Fourier transforms are  $C^\infty$ -functions of ultrapolynomial growth.

In this classes we characterize hypoelliptic convolution operators in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime *}$ . But we have an example of hypoelliptic convolution operator in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime *}$  which is not in this class.

We will now establish a necessary and sufficient condition for a convolution operator to be hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime*}$ . The result is proved only for subclasses of convolution operators  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime*}$  and the proof is based on an idea similar to the one for distribution spaces used in [46], [68] and [69], however some problems appeared to be specific for ultradistributions and they have been solved.

**Definition 6.1** An ultradistribution  $S \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ) is said to be of class  $H_a$ , a > 0, (resp.  $H_{a_p}$ ,  $(a_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ ) if the Fourier transform  $\hat{S}$  is  $C^{\infty}$ -function such that there exists  $\ell > 0$  (resp.  $(\ell_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ ) such that

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{1}{a^{\alpha} M_{\alpha}} \hat{S}^{(\alpha)}(x) = \mathcal{O}(\exp[M(\ell|x|)]),$$

$$\left(resp. \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{1}{\left(\prod_{1 \leq \beta \leq \alpha} a_{\beta}\right) M_{\alpha}} \hat{S}^{(\alpha)} = \mathcal{O}(\exp[M(\ell|x|)])\right), \quad |x| \to \infty.$$
(6.2)

The above defined class of ultradistributions will be used for our study of hypoellipticity in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ).

2)

Lemma 6.2 Let S be an ultradistribution whose Fourier transform is of the form

$$\hat{S} = \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} a_j \delta_{\xi_j},\tag{6.3}$$

where  $\xi_j$  is a sequence of real numbers, such that

$$2^{j} < 2|\xi_{j-1}| < |\xi_{j}|, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{6.4}$$

and  $a_j$  are complex numbers such that for some (resp. each) m > 0

$$|a_j| = \mathcal{O}(\exp[M(m|\xi_j|)]). \tag{6.5}$$

- 1. S belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ );
- 2. S belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if for each (resp. some) k > 0,

$$|a_j| = o(\exp[-M(k|\xi_j|)]).$$
 (6.6)

Note, according to [35, Lemma 3.4] in the Roumieu case condition (6.5) (i. e. "for each m > 0 (6.5) holds") is equivalent to

$$|a_j| = \mathcal{O}(\exp[N_{m_p}(|\xi_j|)]), \tag{6.7}$$

for some  $(m_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ , and condition (6.6) is equivalent to

$$|a_j| = o(\exp[-N_{k_p}(|\xi_j|)])$$
 (6.8)

for each  $(k_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ .

Proof: 1. Let us first prove that the sum  $S = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} a_j e^{ix\xi_j}$  converges in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ). Suppose that  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\{M_p\}}$ ). Using the fact that for each ultrapolynomial P of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ )

$$|P(\xi)\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi(\xi)| \le ||P(D)\varphi||_1,$$

2

we conclude that for each b > 0, some  $\ell > 0$  and C (resp. for each  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ , some  $(\ell_p) \in \mathcal{R}$  and C),

$$|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi(\xi)| \leq \frac{\mathcal{C}}{P_b(\xi)} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{\ell^{\alpha} M_{\alpha}} ||\varphi^{(\alpha)}||_1$$

$$\left(resp. |\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi(\xi)| \leq \frac{\mathcal{C}}{P_{b_p}(\xi)} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{(\prod_{1 \leq \beta \leq \alpha} \ell_{\beta}) M_{\alpha}} ||\varphi^{(\alpha)}||_1 \right), \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.9)

Hence for b > 0, such that b < 2m and some  $\ell > 0$  (resp.  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ , such that  $b_p < 2m_p$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ , and some  $(\ell_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ )

$$|\langle S, \varphi \rangle| \le \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} |a_j \langle e^{ix\xi_j}, \varphi \rangle| \le \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} |a_j| |\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi(\xi_j)|$$

$$\leq \mathcal{C} \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} \exp[M(m|\xi_{j}|) - M(2b|\xi_{j}|)] \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}} \frac{1}{\ell^{\alpha} M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{1} \right) \leq \mathcal{C} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \frac{\ell^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{1} \right)$$

$$\left( resp. \ |\langle S, \varphi \rangle| \leq \mathcal{C} \left( \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbf{N}_{0}} \frac{1}{(\prod_{1 \leq \beta \leq \alpha} \ell_{\beta}) M_{\alpha}} \|\varphi^{(\alpha)}\|_{1} \right) \right),$$

which imply that S converge in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ). In the Roumieu case the convergence in  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$  imply that S converge in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ .

2. Suppose that S belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\{M_p\}}$ ). For every ultraderivative P(D) of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ ) and every  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\{M_p\}}$ ),

$$\langle e^{ixu}(P(D)S(x)), \varphi(x) \rangle \to 0$$
 as  $|u| \to \infty$ ,  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ .

This follows from the next calculation,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle e^{ixu}(P(D)S(x)), \varphi(x)\rangle| &= \left|\frac{1}{u} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (P(D)S(x))\varphi(x) D e^{ixu} dx\right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{|u|} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |D(P(D)S(x))\varphi(x)| dx \leq \frac{\mathcal{C}}{|u|}. \end{aligned}$$

Note,  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^* \subset \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^*$ ,  $\varphi \in L^2$ . Passing to the Fourier transform we get

$$\langle e^{ixu}(P(D)S(x)), \varphi(x) \rangle = \langle \mathcal{F}(e^{ixu}(P(D)S(x)))(\xi), \mathcal{F}(\varphi)(\xi) \rangle$$

$$= \langle P(\xi + u)\hat{S}(\xi + u), \hat{\varphi}(\xi) \rangle = \langle \hat{S}(\xi), P(\xi)\hat{\varphi}(\xi - u) \rangle.$$

Therefore, for each ultraderivative P(D) of class  $(M_p)$  (resp.  $\{M_p\}$ )

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} a_j P(\xi_j) \hat{\varphi}(\xi_j - u) \to 0 \quad as \quad |u| \to \infty, \ u \in \mathbb{R}$$
 (6.10)

Let us fix  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ) so that

$$|\hat{\varphi}(0)| \ge 1 \tag{6.11}$$

and

$$\hat{\varphi}(\xi) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad |\xi| \ge 1. \tag{6.12}$$

Suppose that condition (6.6) is not satisfied. There is  $c \in N$  (resp.  $(c_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ ) and A > 0, such that

$$\exp[M(c|\xi_j|)]|a_j| \ge A \quad (resp. \, \exp[N_{c_p}(|\xi_j|)]|a_j| \ge A)$$
 (6.13)

for a subsequence of  $(a_j)$ , which we may take as the whole sequence without loss of generality. Let  $u_j = \xi_j$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . Making use of (6.4) and (6.12) we obtain

$$\sum_{\substack{j \in \mathbb{N} \\ j \neq k}} a_j P(\xi_j) \hat{\varphi}(\xi_j - u_k) = 0.$$

On the other hand conditions (6.11) and (6.13) imply that if  $P = P_c$  (resp.  $P = P_{cp}$ )

$$|a_k|P_c(\xi_k)\hat{\varphi}(0) \ge A \quad (resp. |a_k|P_{c_p}(\xi_k)\hat{\varphi}(0) \ge A).$$

This contradicts the convergence (6.10).

Conversely, if (6.6) hold then

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \frac{h^{\alpha}}{M_{\alpha}} \|S^{(\alpha)}\|_{\infty} \leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \|a_j(i\xi_j)^{\alpha} e^{i\xi_j}\|_{\infty} < \infty,$$

which imply  $S \in \mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $S \in \mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\{M_p\}}$ ).  $\square$ 

Theorem 6.3 Let S be an ultradistribution in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ) which is of class  $H_a$  (resp.  $H_{a_p}$ ) then S is hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if there exist k > 0 and  $\xi_0 > 0$  (resp. for every k > 0 there exists  $\xi_0 > 0$ ), such that

$$|\hat{S}(\xi)| \ge \exp[M(k|\xi|)], \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}, \quad |\xi| \ge \xi_0.$$
 (6.14)

Proof: 1. Suppose that condition (6.14) is not fulfilled then there exists a sequence  $\xi_j$  defined as in Lemma 6.2 and such that

$$|\hat{S}(\xi_j)| < \exp[M(j|\xi_j|)], \quad j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The series  $U = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} e^{ix\xi_j}$  converges in  $\mathcal{D}'^*_{L^{\infty}}$  but it does not in  $\mathcal{D}^*_{L^{\infty}}$ . On the other hand,

$$S * U = \sum_{j \in \mathbf{N}} \hat{S}(\xi_j) e^{ix\xi_j}.$$

Applying the Lemma 6.2 we conclude that S\*U is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ . Thus S is not hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}'^*$ .

2. Let  $\psi$  be an element of  $\mathcal{D}^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}^{\{M_p\}}$ ), such that

$$\psi(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1, & |\xi| < |\xi_0|, \\ 0, & |\xi| \ge |\xi_0| + 1. \end{cases}$$

We define the Fourier transform  $\hat{R}$  of R by the formula

$$\hat{R}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0, & |\xi| < |\xi_0|, \\ \frac{1 - \psi(\xi)}{\hat{S}(\xi)}, & |\xi| \ge |\xi_0|. \end{cases}$$

The above definition of R has sense since S is of class  $H_a$  (resp.  $H_{a_p}$ ).

There exists b > 0 (resp.  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$ ) such that

$$\hat{Q}(\xi) = \frac{\hat{R}(\xi)}{P_b(\xi)} \quad (resp. \ \hat{Q}(\xi) = \frac{\hat{R}(\xi)}{P_{b_p}(\xi)})$$

and all its derivatives belong to  $L^1$ . We will prove it only in the Roumieu case, since the proof in the Beurling case is analogous. By the iterated "chain rule"

$$\partial^{\alpha}\left(\frac{1}{\hat{S}}\right) = \sum_{1 \leq \gamma \leq \alpha} \sum_{\alpha_{1} + \ldots + \alpha_{\gamma} = \alpha} C_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\ldots\alpha_{\gamma}} \frac{(\partial^{\alpha_{1}}\hat{S})(\partial^{\alpha_{2}}\hat{S})\ldots(\partial^{\alpha_{\gamma}}\hat{S})}{\hat{S}^{\gamma+1}}, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{N}$$

Applying the estimates of derivatives of  $1/P_b$  (resp.  $1/P_{b_p}$ ), which is mentioned in the fourth chapter, we obtain that for each fixed  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $(b_p) \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $2b_p > H^{\alpha-1}\ell_p$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $(\ell_p) \in \mathcal{R}$  is the same as in (6.2) there exist r > 0, C and  $C_{\alpha} = C(\alpha)$  such that

$$|\partial^{\alpha} \hat{Q}(\xi)| \leq \sum_{0 < \beta < \alpha} {\alpha \choose \beta} \left| \left( \frac{1}{P_{b_{p}}(\xi)} \right)^{(\alpha - \beta)} \right| \left| \left( \frac{1}{\hat{S}}(\xi) \right)^{(\beta)} \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{0 \leq \beta \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \beta} \frac{(\alpha - \beta)!}{r^{\alpha - \beta}} \exp[-N_{b_p}(|\xi|)] \cdot \sum_{1 \leq \gamma \leq \beta} \sum_{\beta_1 + \ldots + \beta_{\gamma} = \beta} \mathcal{C}^{\gamma} \mathcal{C}_{\beta_1 \beta_2 \ldots \beta_{\gamma}} \frac{m^{\beta} M_{\beta_1} M_{\beta_2} \ldots M_{\beta_{\gamma}} \exp[\gamma N_{\ell_p}(|\xi|)]}{\exp[(\gamma + 1) M(k|\xi|)]} \\ \leq \mathcal{C}_{\alpha} \exp[-M(k|\xi|)], \qquad \xi \in \mathbf{R}.$$

Therefore the following integration by parts

$$\begin{split} |Q(x)| &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ix\xi} \hat{Q}(\xi) d\xi \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(1+|x|^2)^{\alpha/2}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ix\xi} (1-\triangle)^{\alpha/2} \hat{Q}(\xi) d\xi \right| < \mathcal{C} \frac{1}{(1+|x|^2)^{\alpha/2}}, \end{split}$$

where C depends on the choice of  $\alpha$ , has sense. It follows that Q is an  $L^1$  function and so the ultradistribution  $R = P_b(D)Q$  (resp.  $R = P_{b_p}(D)Q$ ) is in  $\mathcal{D}'^{(M_p)}_{L^1}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}'^{\{M_p\}}_{L^1}$ ). Furthermore,

$$\hat{S}(\xi)\hat{R}(\xi) = 1 - \psi(\xi).$$

By the inverse Fourier transform, we see that R a parametrix for S, that is:

$$S*R=\delta-W,$$

where  $\hat{W} = \psi$ .

Now assume that S\*U=V, where  $V\in \mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ ,  $S\in \mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime*}$  and  $U\in \mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime*}$ . We have

$$U = U * \delta = U * (S * R) + U * W = (U * S) * R + U * W = V * R + U * W.$$

It is easy to check that V\*R and U\*W belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^*$  and so U is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^*$ .  $\square$ 

The fact that the Fourier transform is topological isomorphism from  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime*}$  onto  $\mathcal{O}_M^*$  implies that every ultradistribution in  $\mathcal{O}_c^{(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime \{M_p\}}$ ) is of class  $H_a$  (resp.  $H_{a_p}$ ). Therefore:

Corollary 6.4 Let S be an ultradistribution in  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ) then S is hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime(M_p)}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime\{M_p\}}$ ) if and only if there exist k>0 and  $\xi_0>0$  (resp. for every k>0 there exists  $\xi_0>0$ ) such that (6.14) holds.

Corollary 6.5 The same assumptions as in the Theorem 1 imply that every solution U in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\prime*}$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , of the equation (6.1) is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^*$  whenever V is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^*$ .

Proof: Analogously as in the proof of the sufficiency of the theorem  $R \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime*}$  and U = V \* R + U \* W. Since  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\ast} * \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime*} \subset \mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\ast}$  we have that U is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^q}^{\ast}$ .  $\square$  If the give convolution operator S is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime*}$  then we have the following weak version of the regularity theorem.

**Theorem 6.6** If an ultradistribution  $S \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime*}$  satisfies condition (6.14) every solution U in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime*}$  of the equation (6.1) with  $V \in \mathcal{D}_{L^2}^*$  is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ .

Proof: Applying the same argument as in Theorem 6.3, we construct the continuous function  $\hat{R}(\xi)$  and b>0 (resp.  $(b_p)\in\mathcal{R}$ ) so that

$$\hat{Q}(\xi) = \frac{\hat{R}(\xi)}{P_b(\xi)} \quad (resp. \ \hat{Q}(\xi) = \frac{\hat{R}(\xi)}{P_{b_p}(\xi)}), \qquad \xi \in \mathbf{R},$$

is in  $L^2$ . By Plancherel's theorem Q is in  $L^2$  and  $R=P_b(D)Q$  (resp.  $R=P_{b_p}(D)Q$ ) is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^2}^{\prime*}$ , also

$$U = U * \delta = V * R + U * V.$$

Since V is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^2}^*$ , V\*R and U\*W belong to  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ , U is in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^*$ .  $\square$ We give now two examples of hypoelliptic operators, one of which is not of class  $H_a$  (resp.  $H_{ap}$ ).

Example 6.7 Let  $S = e^{-|t|}$ . Since  $\hat{S}(\xi) = 1/(1+\xi^2)$  is in  $\mathcal{O}_c^{\prime*}$  and satisfies the condition of the theorem S is hypoelliptic in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^{\infty}}^{\prime*}$ .

Example 6.8 Let  $S = 1/(1+x^2) + \delta$ . Its Fourier transform  $\hat{S}(\xi) = e^{-|\xi|} + 1$  is not a  $C^1$ -function but it satisfies condition (6.14). From the fact that  $1/(1+x^2) \in \mathcal{D}_{L^1}^*$ , which follows from the estimation

$$\left| \left( 1/(1+\xi^2) \right)^{(\beta)} \right| \le 3^{\beta}(\beta+1)!, \qquad \beta \in \mathbb{N}, \ \xi \in \mathbb{R},$$

and the fact that  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^* * \mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^{\prime *} \subset \mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^*$  it follows that S is hypoelliptic convolution operator in  $\mathcal{D}_{L^\infty}^*$ .

## Bibliography

- [1] P. Antosik, J. Mikusiński, R. Sikorski, "Theory of Distributions Sequencial approach", Amsterdam-Warsawa, 1973.
- [2] A. Avantaggiati, S-spaces by means of the Behavior of Hermite-Fourier coefficients, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. (6) 4-A (1985), 487-495.
- [3] A. Beurling, "Quasi-analyticity and general distributions", Lectures 4. and 5., A.M.S. Summer institute, Stanford, 1961.
- [4] R. W. Braun, R. Meise, B. A. Taylor, Ultradifferentiable functions and Fourier analysis, Results in Mathematics 17 (1990), 206-237.
- [5] R. W. Braun, R. Meise, D. Vogt, Existence of fundamental solutions and surjectivity of convolution operators on class of ultradifferentiable functions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 6 (1990), 344-370.
- [6] G. Björk, Linear partial differential operators and generalized distributions, Ark. Mat. 6 (1966), 351-407.
- [7] N. G. de Bruin, A theory of generalized functions, with applications to Wigner distribution and Weil correspondence, Nieuwe Arch. Wisk. (3) 21 (1973), 205-280.
- [8] N. Bourbaci, "Intégration", Chapitres I, II, III, IV, Paris, Hermann, 1952.
- [9] R. Caramichael, D. S. Pathak, S. Pilipović, Cauchy and Poisson integrals of ultradistributions, Compl. Variable Theory and Appl. 14 (1990) 85-108.

- [10] R. Caramichael, D. S. Pathak, S. Pilipović, Holomorfic Functions in Tubes Associated with Ultradistributions, Compl. Variable Theory and Appl., in print.
- [11] C. Chevalley, Theory of Distributions, Lecture at Columbia University, 1950-51.
- [12] C. C. Chou, "La transformation de Fourier complexe et l'équation de convolution", LNN 325, Springer, Berlin-Heildelberg-New York 1973.
- [13] I. Ciorănesku, The characterization of the Almost-Periodic Ultradistributions of Beurling type, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., to appear.
- [14] I. Ciorănesku, L. Zsidó, ω-ultradistributions and their applications to operator theory, "Spectral Theory", Banach Center Publications 8, Warsaw 1982, 77-220.
- [15] I. Ciorănesku, The characterization of the Almost-Periodic Ultradistributions of Beurling type, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., to appear.
- [16] P. Dierolf, J. Voigt, Convolution and S' convolution of distributions, Collectanea Math., 29 (1978), 185-196.
- [17] S. J. L. van Eijndhoven, Functional analytic characterization of the Gelfand-Shilov spaces  $S_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ , Proc. Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 80 No. 2 (1987).
- [18] S. J. L. van Eijndhoven, J. de Graaf, "Trajectory spaces, generalized functions and unbounded operatots", Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1162, Springer Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1985.
- [19] K. Floret, J. Wloka, "Einführung in die Theorie der lokalkonvexen Räume", Lecture Notes in Mathematics 56, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1968.
- [20] I. M. Gel'fand, G. E. Shilov, "Generalized Functions", Vol. 2, Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London, 1967.
- [21] I. M. Gel'fand, G. E. Shilov, "Generalized Functions", Vol. 3, Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London, 1967.

BIBLIOGRAPHY 76

[22] V. O. Gruzdinski, Temperierte Beurling-distributions, Math. Nachr. 91 (1979), 197-220.

- [23] Y. Hirata, On the convolutions in the theory of distributions, J. Hirishima Univ. 22, (1958), 89-98.
- [24] Y. Hirata, H. Ogata, On the Exchange Formula for Distributions, J. Hiroshima Univ. 22, (1959),147-152.
- [25] J. Horvat, "Topological Vector Spaces and Distributions", Volume I, Addison-Wesley, 1966.
- [26] S. Ishikawa, Generalized Hilbert Transforms in Tempered Distributions, Tokyo J. Math. 10, No. 1, (1987), 119-132.
- [27] A. J. E. M. Jansen, S.J.L. van Eindhoven, Spaces of type W, Growth of Hermite Coefficients, Wigner Distribution and Bargmann Transform, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 152 (1990), 368-390.
- [28] A. J. E. M. Jansen, Positivity of weighted Wigner distributions, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 12 (1981), 752-758.
- [29] A. J. E. M. Jansen, Bargmann transform, Zak transform and coherent states, J. Math. Phys. 23(1982), 720-731.
- [30] A. Kamiński, On Convolutors, Products and Fourier Transforms, Bull. De l'Acad. Pol. Des Sci. Ser. des sci., Math. Astronom et Phys., Vol.XXV, No 4 (1977) 369-374.
- [31] A. Kamiński, Convolution, Product and Fourier Transformations of Distributions, Studia Math., T. LXXIV (1982) 83-86.
- [32] Kashpirovskij, Realization of some spaces of S-type as the space of sequences, Vestn. Kiev, Univ. Mat. Meh. 21 (1979), 52-58, (Russian).
- [33] H. Komatsu, Ultradistributions I, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Mat. 20 (1973), 25-105.
- [34] H. Komatsu, Ultradistributions II, J. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Mat. 24, No. 3 (1977), 607-628.

77

[35] H. Komatsu, Ultradistributions III, J. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Mat. 29, No. 3 (1977), 653-718.

- [36] H. Komatsu, Microlocal Analisis in Gevrey Class and in Complex Domains, UTO-MATH 91-15 (1991), Lecture delivered at CIME, Inter. Math. Summer Institute: Microlocal Analysis and Applications, Montecatini 1989, to appear in Lect. Notes.
- [37] D. Kovačević, Some operations on the Space  $S'^{(M_p)}$  of Tempered Ultradistributions, Univ. u Novom Sadu Zb. Rad. Prirod.-Mat. Fak. Ser. Mat., to appear.
- [38] D. Kovačević, The spaces of weighted and tempered ultradistributions, Ms degree thesis, University of Novi Sad, 1991.
- [39] D. Kovačević, S. Pilipović, Structural Properties of the Spaces of Tempered Ultradistributions, Proc. of the Conference "Complex Analysis and Applications '91 with Symposium on Generalized Functions", Varna, (1991).
- [40] D. Kovačević, S. Pilipović, Integral Transforms on the Spaces of Tempered Ultradistributions preprint.
- [41] J. L. Lions, E. Magenes, "Problèmes aus limites non homogenes et applications", Vol. 3, Dunod, Paris, 1970.
- [42] R. Meise, Sequence space representations for zero-solutions of convolution equations on ultradiferentiable functions of Roumieu type, Studia Math. 85 (1987) 203-227.
- [43] R. Meise, K. Schwerdfeger, B. A. Taylor, On Kernels of Slowly decreasing convolution operators, DOGA Tr. J. Math. 10, 1 (1986).
- [44] D. H. Phak, On the convolution Equations in the space of Distributions of L<sup>p</sup>-growth, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 94, 1 (1985).
- [45] S. Pilipović, Tempered Ultradistributions, Bollettino U.M.I. (7) 2-B (1988), 235-251.

[46] S. Pilipović, Hilbert Transformation of Beurling Ultradistributions, Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova, 77 (1987), 1-13.

- [47] S. Pilipović, Beurling-Gevrey Tempered Ultradistributions as Boundary Values, Portugalia Math., Vol. 48 Fasc. 4 (1991), 483-504.
- [48] S. Pilipović, On the space  $\mathcal{D}_{L^1}^{\prime(M_p)}$ ,  $q \in [1,\infty]$ , Proceedings of an international conference on Generalized Functions, Convergence Structures and thier Applications, held June 23-27, 1987, Yugosavia, Plenum Press New York and London (1988).
- [49] S. Pilipović, On the convolution in the Space of Beurling Ultradistributions, Commentarii Mathematici Universitatis Sancti Pauli, 40 1, (1991), 15-27.
- [50] S. Pilipović, Characterizations of subspaces of the Space of Ultradistributions, preprint.
- [51] S. Pilipović, Multipliers, convolutors and hypoeliptic convolutors for tempered ultradistributions, Banaras Hindu University, India, Platinum Jubile Year International Symposium on Generalized Functions and their Applications, December 23-26, 1991.
- [52] A. P. Robertson, W. Robertson "Topological Vector Spaces", Cambridge University Press, Cambrige, 1964.
- [53] C. Roumieu, Sur quelquess extensions de la notion de distribution, Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. Paris, 3 Sér, 77 (1960), 41-121.
- [54] W. Rudin, "Functional Analysis" (in Rusian), Mir Publishers, Moscow, 1975.
- [55] M. Sato, Theory of hyperfunction I, II, Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sect. I A., 8 (1959 and 1960) 139-193 and 398-437.
- [56] L. Schwartz, "Théorie des distributions", Hermann, Paris, 1966.
- [57] L. Schwartz, Produits tensoriels topologiques et espaces nucléaires, Seminaire, Institut Henri-Poincare, 1953-54.

- [58] P. Scharpira, Sur les ultra-distributions, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. Paris, 4 série, 1 (1968), 395-415.
- [59] R. Shiraishi, On the definition of convolution for distributions, J. Sci. Hiroshima Univ. Ser. A 23 (1959), 19-32.
- [60] J. F. Treves, "Topological vector spaces, Distributions and Kernels", Academic press, New York, 1967.
- [61] J. Uryga, On Tensor Product and Convolution of Generalized Functions of Gelfand-Shilov Type, Generalized Functions and Convergence, Memorial Vol. for Prof. J. Mikisinski, Editors: P. Antosik, A. Kaminski, Wold Scientific Singapore-New Jersey-London-Hong Kong, 1990, 251-264.
- [62] V. S. Vladimirov, "Generalized Function in Mathematical Physics", Mir Publisher, Moscow, 1979.
- [63] P. Wagner, Zur Faltung von Distributionen, Math. Ann. 276 (1987), 467-485.
- [64] G. G. Walter, Hermite Series as Boundary Values, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 218 (1976), 368-390.
- [65] R. Wawak, Improper integrals of distributions, Studia Math
- [66] J. Wloka, "Grundräume und veralgemeinerte Funktionen", Lecture Notes in Mathematics 82, Springer Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1969.
- [67] A. H. Zemanian, "Generalized Integral Transformations", Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1987.
- [68] Z. Zieleźny, Hypoelliptic and entire elliptic convolution equations in subspaces of the spaces of distributions I, Studia Mathematica, T. XXVIII (1967), 317-332.
- [69] Z. Zieleźny, Hypoelliptic and entire elliptic convolution equations in subspaces of the spaces of distributions II, Studia Mathematica, T. XXXII (1969), 47-59.

BIBLIOGRAPHY 80

[70] K. Yoshinaga, H. Ogata, On convolutions, J. Hiroshima Univ. 22,(1958),15-24.





